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About this Report 
This Integrated Annual Report (IAR) presents our performance for the year ended 2023, the development 
outcomes we achieved, and our strategic road map for 2024. Our operations during 2023 focused on 
supporting the Bank’s Member States, i.e., Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda, to stimulate employment, 
promote food security, mobilize global resources to mitigate climate change, and catalyze regional and 
continental trade. We also strengthened the Bank’s collaboration with partner financial institutions (PFIs) to 
promote increased access to affordable credit, particularly by small and medium enterprises (SMEs) engaged 
in agro-based value chains. Furthermore, the year 2023 provided an opportunity for us to review the Bank’s 
post-COVID-19 strategy and reposition it for the next five years. Once more, the report serves as a call 
to action for us to keep moving forward with our commitment to generate value for our stakeholders and 
shareholders.

Reporting Scope: 
This Report covers the period from January 1 through December 31, 2023, 
and includes both financial and non-financial performance. This report is 
a valuable resource for information on important events, projects, market 
issues, our accomplishments, and the general health of our operations in 
2023. Additionally, the report offers commentary on priority actions and 
anticipated outcomes for the coming year. For our stakeholders in the East 
African markets of Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda, our insightful 
research is especially pertinent. 

Materiality: 

This Report provides a fair and clear evaluation of our strategies, performance, governance, sustainability, 
and prospects. The issues that are most likely to affect our ability to implement our strategies or create 
shared value, as well as our long-term financial and non-financial performance, are factors that are 
considered when determining what is material. Other factors include the risks that have been identified, 
the interests of key stakeholders, and the topics covered in reports that are presented to our Board of 
Directors. Additionally, we evaluated each of the material matters’ dependencies and impact drivers in 
the 2023 edition, as well as how they affect different capital inputs and outputs. Our understanding of 
the interrelationships between our strategies, tangible assets, and capital in the context of stakeholder 
expectations as well as business priorities has improved because of this effort.



7

Promoting Sustainable Growth and Prosperity

Letter of Transmittal

The Honourable Minister for Finance, Planning and Economic Development 

The Republic of Uganda

The Honourable Cabinet Secretary, the National Treasury and Planning

The Republic of Kenya

The Honourable Minister for Finance and Planning 

The United Republic of Tanzania

The Honourable Minister for Finance and Economic Planning 

The Republic of Rwanda

In accordance with Articles 26 and 35 of the Charter for the East African Development Bank (the 
“Bank”), the Board of Directors herewith submits to the Honourable Members of the Governing 
Council and to the Members of the Bank, the Integrated Annual Report of the Bank for the 
period 1st January to 31st December 2023.

This Report highlights the activities of the Bank during the year 2022 and shows the Bank’s 
financial position as of 31st December 2023. The report also presents a summary of the global 
and regional operating environments.

The Board  of Directors acknowledges its’ responsibility for ensuring the integrity of this report. 
In approving this report, the Board has considered the operating context, business strategy, 
value creation model, and outcomes. In the Board’s considered opinion, the Report addresses 
all the issues that are material to, or could have a material effect on, the Bank’s ability to create 
value and outcomes. This Report fairly presents the performance of the EADB in the year 2023.

Honourable Members of the Governing Council, please accept the assurances of my highest 
consideration and esteem. 

CHAIRPERSON, BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
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Abbreviations and Acronyms

AADFI 	 Association of African 
Development

	 Finance Institutions
AfDB 	 African Development Bank
ALCO 	 Assets and Liabilities Committee 
BADEA 	 Arab Bank for Economic
	 Development in Africa
BCP 	 Business Continuity Plan
BIF 	 Burundian Franc
CDM 	 Clean Development Mechanism
CGC 	 Coalition for Green Capital
CIF 	 Climate Investment Funds
CKMS 	 Credit Knowledge Managenent
	 System
CPP 	 Client Protection Principles
DEG 	 German Investment and
	 Development Company
DBSA 	 Development Bank of Southern
	 Africa
EAC 	 East African Community
EACDF 	 East African Community
	 Development Fund
EADB 	 East African Development Bank
ESM 	 Environmental and Social
	 Management
ESPR 	 Environmental and Social
	 Performance Report
EIB 	 European Investmnent Bank
EU 	 European Union
EUR 	 Euro
FDI 	 Foreign Direct Investment
FMO 	 The Netherlands Development
	 Finance Company
GCR 	 Global Credit Rating
GDP 	 Gross Domestic Product
IAS 	 International Accounting 

Standards
IASB 	 International Accounting 

Standards
	 Board
IFC 	 International Finance Corporation
IFRIC 	 International Financial Reporting

	 Interpretations Committee
IFRS 	 International Financial Reporting
	 Standards
IMF 	 International Monetary Fund
IRENA 	 International Renewable Energy
	 Agency
IUCEA 	 Inter-University Council for East 

Africa
JICA 	 Japan International Co-operation
	 Agency
KES 	 Kenyan Shilling
KfW 	 Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau
KYC 	 Know Your Customer
LDCs 	 Least Developed Countries
MDB 	 Multilateral Development Banks
NDF 	 Nordic Development Fund
NDP 	 National Development Plan
NST 	 National Strategy for Transformation
NPL 	 Non Performing Loans
ODA 	 Overseas Development Assistance
OPEC	 Organization of the Petroleum
	 Exporting Countries
PFI 	 Partner Financial Institution
PWC 	 PricewaterhouseCoopers
RCC 	 Regional Collaboration Centre
	 (UNFCCC)
RWF 	 Rwanda Franc
SBIC 	 Africa Standard Bank Investment
	 Corporation -Africa
SIDA	 Swedish International Development
	 Cooperation
SMEs 	 Small and Medium Enterprises
SPM 	 Social Performance Management
TZS 	 Tanzanian Shilling
UNFCCC 	 United Nations Framework
	 Convention on Climate Change
UGX 	 Ugandan Shilling
USA 	 United States of America
USD 	 United States Dollar
VAT 	 Value Added Tax
WEO 	 World Economic Outlook
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Reflections from the Board Chairperson

The EADB Board of Directors  is pleased 
to announce that the East African 
Development Bank (EADB) delivered on its 
mandate during 2023 in an impactful and 
profitable manner. Congratulations to our 
shareholders, investors,  clients, partners, 
Management, and staff of the Bank.

In 2023, EADB navigated through a  challenging global 
monetary and financial environment. EADB Member 
States’ local currencies weakened following global 
monetary tightening, rising costs of external debt 
servicing, and weakening export performance. With 
global monetary tightening peaking in the 4th quarter of 
2023 and global inflation subsiding to an annual average 
of 6.9% in 2023, global interest rates are expected 
to begin declining in 2024. As the global economy is 
projected to have a soft landing, EADB Member States 
are projected to realize higher growth rates in 2024. 

In line with the Bank’s mandate to extend its services 
across the East African Community (EAC), the Republic 
of Burundi has confirmed its subscription to 3,800 paid-
in shares as provided in the Governing Council approval. 
Burundi has further committed to paying the initial capital 
subscription in FY 2023-24. The entry of Burundi will 
strengthen the Bank’s capital base and bolster EADB’s 
role as a platform for wider collaboration among EAC 
partner states

We remain committed to EADB’s governance principles 
of transparency, accountability, and ethical conduct. 
Following the Bank’s robust governance framework, 
we ensured that all operations were conducted in a 
responsible and ethical manner while safeguarding the 
interests of all stakeholders and mitigating any potential 
risks. We have also maintained a zero-tolerance policy 
towards corruption and fraud in all transactions.

The EADB ended 2023 with a new strategic plan, which will 
guide  its interventions over the period 2024-2028. Climate 
change, food security, infrastructure, and SME development 
remain at the forefront of the Bank’s strategic interventions. 
The Bank recognizes that most of the East African countries 
are dependent on climate-sensitive economic sectors, 
particularly agriculture, for food security, income generation, 
and  industrialization. 

Dr. Natu Mwamba

CHAIRPERSON, BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

3800
Paid in Shares

Burundi has further committed 
to pay initial capital subscription 
in the FY 2023/24.
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 USD 100 million USD 50 million
To finance eligible social and 
infrastructure projects in the 
EADB member states. 

To finance eligible private sector 
projects in the EADB Member 
States

The Director General’s Statement 

Portfolio Performance:

The Bank maintained a high portfolio performance with 99.1% of loans performing as 
of December 31, 2023. Disbursements were strategically directed towards:

•	 Private agricultural production projects.

•	 Lines of credit to partner financial institutions (PFIs) for SME lending 

•	 Sovereign lending to the Government of the United Republic of Tanzania (URT).

Our catalytic finance enabled PFIs to disburse a total of 1,122 loans during the year. 
Importantly, only 3.7% of our projects pose moderate environmental risks, which are 
manageable through mitigation strategies.

Funding Initiatives:

In 2023, EADB concluded several significant funding initiatives 
to support our growth and development objectives:

Multicurrency Line of Credit Agreement with the 
Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA): USD 100 
million to finance eligible social and infrastructure projects in 
EADB member states. 

Line of Credit Agreement with the Arab Bank for Economic 
Development in Africa (BADEA): USD 50 million for financing 
eligible private sector projects in our member states.. 

On-Channeling Agreement with Uganda’s Ministry of 
Finance, Planning, and Economic Development (MoFPED): 
Extension of the Rural Finance Enhancement Program, under 
the financial cooperation between Germany and Uganda. 

Accreditation with the Adaptation Fund (AF): Continuing our 
application process to secure funding for projects aimed at 
helping developing countries adapt to climate change..

Partnership with the National Bank of Rwanda: Mobilizing 
local currency to support MSMEs in key sectors, establishing 
an SME program in Rwanda. 

Looking Forward:

In 2024, we eagerly anticipate implementing these new funding 
initiatives and expanding our operations to Burundi. These 
efforts align with our commitment to fostering sustainable 
development and supporting economic growth in our member 
states.

 Vivienne Yeda, 
Director General

During the year ended December 2023, EADB  strengthened its risk management framework, 
maintained robust capital adequacy and prudent liquidity levels. We are pleased to report 
that Moody’s Investors Service reaffirmed our long-term issuer rating of Baa3 with a stable 
outlook, reflecting our financial stability and sound management practices.
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We are East Africa’s apex development finance institution, providing long-term finance to boost economic 
growth in the Region. For 56 years, we have supported a diverse group of clients across key economic 
sectors and built a reputation as our clients’ dependable financial partners. 

Vision To be the  partner of choice for sustainable socio-economic development.

Mission
To promote sustainable social-economic development in East Africa by 
providing development finance, support and advisory service.

Core Values  Service, integrity, leadership, innovation, and teamwork.

Skills Development: 

EADB supports programmes 
that enhance access to 
and expand educational 
opportunities from early stage 
to tertiary education and skills 
upgrading for people of East 
Africa through continuous 
learning and holistic human 
resource skills formation.

Climate Change: 

Climate change is now 
recognized as one of the 
biggest challenges to socio-
economic development. The 
attendant changes in weather 
patterns and unpredictable 
floods and droughts pose a 
challenge to planning for the 
Member States of the Bank.

Food Security: 

The population of East Africa 
is estimated to be around 
140 million and growing at an 
average rate of 2.5% per year. 
This relatively high growth 
rate, coupled with increasing 
urbanization, is straining 
the available resources 
for productive agriculture, 
especially the resources to 
meet the aggregate food 
requirements at the household 
level.

Infrastructure: 

EADB supports the 
development of infrastructure 
in the region through programs 
that emphasize public-private 
partnerships, strategic 
investments in key institutions 
involved in infrastructure 
development, and resource 
mobilization programs for 
infrastructure development.

Regional Integration: 

EADB supports integration 
efforts through the financing 
of infrastructure projects, 
establishing mechanisms 
that support public private 
partnerships to accelerate 
regional integration, and the 
establishment of institutions 
to undertake region-wide 
programs and projects on 
behalf of the governments of 
the region.

EADB Focus areas

About EADB
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Products and Services

Loans

The Bank provides loans to projects directly, through 
syndicates, and through other forms of co-financing. 
The Bank’s core activity is direct project lending to 
medium and large-scale enterprises, with an emphasis 
on export-oriented projects. Core business is mainly 
derived from opportunities arising in the productive and 
service sectors. The Bank also offers sovereign loans 
to member states for large-scale infrastructure projects 
with demonstrable socioeconomic impact.

Equity

Socially and economically important projects may lack 
the scale or capacity required to qualify for commercial 
finance. They may also be nascent projects or 
technologies that have yet to mature within the markets 
and cannot therefore pass the “proof of concept” tests 
required to qualify for debt financing. Further, some 
enterprises within the Bank’s member states may require 
equity rather than debt funds due to undercapitalisation. 
Given the significant demand from such companies and 
the specialised nature of the support required to enable 
such businesses to become viable, the Bank renders 
support through carefully selected equity. EADB also 
plays a catalytic role by attracting other development 
partners to invest in such projects. In exceptional cases, 
the Bank invests directly in larger enterprises with 
significant social and economic impact subject to a 
clearly defined investment period exit mechanism.

Lines of credit

Small and medium size enterprises (SMEs) provide 
significant opportunities for accelerating economic 
growth within the region. Owing to limitations of scale, 
SMEs may find themselves excluded from mainstream 
loan markets. The Bank, therefore, provides lines of credit 
to national and regional development finance institutions 
(DFIs), micro finance institutions (MFIs) and local banks 
to enhance its' support to SMEs and new projects.
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Global Operating Environment
In 2023, the world economy grew by 3% amidst a tight monetary and financial environment, paving the way for returning to stable 
prices in 2024 without a recession. Emerging and developing Asia expanded by 5.2%, but the Euro Area almost stagnated because 
of economic disruptions and elevated inflation attributed to the effects of the Russia-Ukraine war. In Sub-Saharan Africa, economic 
growth slowed to an average of 3.3% from 4.0% in 2022. Growth in the Middle East was dampened during the fourth quarter of 
the 2023 by uprising of the Israeli-Palestine conflict in the Gaza Strip. The risk of that conflict escalating and compounding global 
geopolitical conflict in 2024 remains high. Table 1 below summarises economic growth rates for major regions of the world over 
the period 2019-2025. 

Table 1: Economic Growth Trends of Major Regions of the World (% change)
Region 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

World 2.8 -2.8 6.3 3.5 3.0 3.1

Euro area 1.6 -6.1 5.6 3.3 0.5 0.9

Major advanced economies (G7) 1.6 -4.5 5.4 2.3 1.5 1.2

Emerging and developing Asia 5.2 -0.5 7.5 4.5 5.4 5.2

Middle East and Central Asia 1.6 -2.6 4.3 5.5 2.0 2.9

Sub-Saharan Africa 3.2 -1.6 4.7 4.0 3.3 3.8

Source: IMF WEO October 2023 and January 2024 update.

Global inflation subsided to an annual average of 6.9% in 2023 from 8.7% in 2022 and is projected to decline to 5.8% in 2024. After 
global monetary tightening peaked in the 4th quarter of 2023, interest rates are expected to begin subsiding in mid-2024. 

Regional economic growth 

During 2023, GDP growth rates for EADB Member States ranged from 4.6% in Uganda to 6.2% in Rwanda,  5.0% in Kenya and 5.2% 
in Tanzania. In 2024, all four countries are projected to realise higher growth rates as they recover from inflationary and exchange 
rate pressures ahead of many countries in Sub-Saharan Africa and elsewhere globally. Below are highlights on each country:

Figure 1 depicts growth trends of EADB Member States over the period 2018-2024. 

Much of Kenya’s growth in 
2023 came from agriculture, 
the financial sector, and social 
services.  In 2024, Kenya’s growth 
is expected to average about 
5.3%. 

Tanzania registered sustained economic growth 
from 4.7% in 2022 to 5.2% in 2023, supported by 
investments in energy and transport infrastructure, 
increased mineral production, and buoyant private 
sector output supported by price and exchange rate 
stability. Tanzania is projected to grow by 6.1% in 2024 

Growth 
5.3%

Growth 
6.1%

Projected 

Rebound 
7.0%

Projected rise 
5.7%

Rwanda’s economic growth 
rate for 2023 slowed down to 
6.2% from 8.2% in 2022 due to 
elevated inflation and the weaker 
performance of sectors most 
affected by floods and landslides 
in  the country in May 2023. In 
2024, the economy is projected 
to rebound to 7.0% growth.

Uganda’s growth 
slowed down to 
4.6% in 2023, from 
6.4% in 2022, but 
is projected to rise 
to 5.7% in 2024. 
The 2023 growth 
was buoyed by 
expansionary private 
sector output. 
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Source: IMF WEO October 2023 database.

Regional inflation

EADB Member States recorded a substantial decline in inflation in 2023 following monetary 
tightening. In Kenya, year-on-year inflation declined from 9.0% in January 2023 to 6.6% in 
December 2023, while in Rwanda, urban inflation was 6.4% over the same period. In Tanzania, 
prices were relatively stable, with year-on-year inflation narrowing from 4.9% in January to 3.0% in 
September 2023. Uganda, which adopted aggressive monetary tightening from mid-2022 saw its 
year-on-year inflation drop from 10.4% in January 2023 to 2.6% in December 2023. Overall, annual 
average inflation in 2023 stood at 7.7% in Kenya, 14.3% in Rwanda, 3.8% in Tanzania, and 5.4% in 
Uganda. Figure 2 depicts the annual average inflation trends.

Source: EADB Member States Central Banks

Regional Exchange rates

On an annual basis, the KES, RWF, TZS, and UGX depreciated against the USD in 2023. Local 
currency depreciation followed the strengthening of the USD on account of monetary tightening, 
increased demand for hard currency to service external debt, more especially for Kenya and 
Uganda, and rising import bills against the slow recovery of exports. Compared to 2022 
performance, the KES and RWF weakened substantially in 2023, the TZS weakened during the 2nd 
half of 2023 after several years of stability, and the UGX narrowed its rate of depreciation against 
the USD. The annual movement of EADB Member States’ currencies is shown in Table 3.

-6.0
-4.0
-2.0
0.0
2.0
4.0
6.0
8.0
10.0
12.0

2018 2019 2021 2022 2023 2024

Figure 1: GDP Growth Trends for EADB Member States

Kenya Rwanda Tanzania Uganda

Kenya 
9.0% > 6.6%

Tanzania

4.9% > 3.0%

Rwanda 
20.7% > 6.4%

Uganda 
10.4% > 2.6%0.0

2.0
4.0
6.0
8.0

10.0
12.0
14.0
16.0

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Figure 2: Annual Average Inflagtion Trends in EADB Member States

Kenya Rwanda Tanzania Uganda

Decline in 
inflation

2023

Annual average 
inflation 

2023

Kenya 
7.7%

Tanzania

3.8%

Rwanda 
14.3%

Uganda 
5.4%
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Table 3: Exchange Rate Movements (annual % change)

Year USD/
KES

USD/
RWF

USD/
TZS

USD/
UGX

USD 
Index

2019 -0.7 -4.2 -1.1 0.6 3.3

2020 -4.1 -4.6 -0.3 -0.4 1.7

2021 -2.9 -4.7 -0.1 3.7 -3.9

2022 -6.9 -4.0 -0.2 -2.6 6.7

2023 -15.5 -11.0 -3.0 -1.0 -0.2

Source Central Banks of EADB Member States and US Fed

We project the KES, RWF, TZS, and UGX to continue 
depreciating in 2024 if the USD rates remain high . However, 
their rates of depreciation could subside after mid-2024, if 
USD rates. 

Economic performance of EADB priority sectors 

In Kenya, agriculture, hotels, financial services, and real 
estate sectors were the dominant growth sectors during the 
first half of 2023. There was a slowdown in manufacturing 
growth during Q2 2023, with coffee, dairy, and tea 
processing and manufacture of construction materials 
rising but sugar production and assembly of motor vehicles 
declined. Electricity output growth nearly stagnated in Q2 
2023 as increased generation capacity was dampened by 
the country’s ageing transmission network. Lending  to 
the private sector during the half-year to June 2023 was  
predominantly focused on working capital, with strong 
credit growth registered in manufacturing, transport, and 
communication. However, credit risk is expected to remain 
elevated above 10% in the short to medium term. The only 
exceptions are in financial services, where the NPL ratio stood 
at 5.3% in June 2023, as well as in the hotel and tourism 
sectors, where the NPL ratio subsided to 10%, down from 
18.5% in June 2022. 

In Rwanda, manufacturing, transport, financial services, 
construction and education were the dominant sectors 
driving growth; hotels and health services slowed down. 
Manufacturing rebounded, buoyed by food processing, 
textiles, and plastics manufacturing, which more than 
compensated for reductions in the manufacture of beverages 
and furniture. Conversely, agricultural growth was subdued 
due to a contraction in food production in the first half of 
the year followed by a contraction in export crops, even as 
livestock production, fisheries, and forestry were resilient. In 
2023, commercial bank credit  grew by an annual average 
of 14.6%, the lowest rate recorded since 2019. However, 

credit to financial services, water & energy, agriculture, and 
manufacturing exceeded the banking sector average for the 
year. Overall credit defaults measured by commercial banks’ 
NPL ratio stood at 4.8% in September 2023, which is within 
the benchmark of 5%. As at June 2023, there was a dramatic 
reduction in commercial real estate NPLs to 6.7%, down from 
16.7% a year before, partly driven by write-offs. However, 
manufacturing NPLs rose to 7.8% from 3.1% during the same 
period because of financial distress experienced by some 
large borrowers in the  manufacturing sector.  

In Tanzania, most sectors of the economy were vibrant, led 
by manufacturing, electricity, hotels, financial services, and 
transport. Real estate and education also posted steady 
growth. However, agricultural growth was comparatively 
weaker in relation to other sectors . Tanzania registered 
remarkable growth of 20.1% in private sector credit during 
2023 – the highest growth realised since 2019 - led by 
agriculture, manufacturing, transport, and construction. The 
NPL ratio dropped from 5.8% in December 2022 to 4.3% in 
December 2023, meeting the 5% benchmark for the first time 
following a sustained declining trend that began  in 2020.
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A major development in Uganda’s services sector is that 
hotel accommodation and food services crossed pre-
pandemic output levels during Q2 2023 . The electricity, 
water, construction, and real estate sectors posted 
impressive growth during the year. Conversely, growth in 
agriculture, manufacturing, and education was weak while 
transport contracted as rising transportation costs, high 
input costs, and subdued consumer demand weighed in. 
However, manufacturing remained attractive for commercial 
bank lending considering its low NPLs. In agriculture, 
whereas cash crop and food crop production were volatile, 
livestock sustained steady growth. Overall, commercial 
bank credit to the private sector engaged in textile 
manufacturing, food processing, forestry, water transport, 
and health services recorded high growth rates during the 
year to August 2023, while credit for agricultural production 
declined. Lending rates were relatively lower for transport 
and manufacturing sectors than the national weighted 
average but higher for agriculture. The NPL ratio for Uganda 
remained moderate at 5.3% as of September 2022.
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04 Strategic Partnerships and 
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At EADB, we understand the 
importance of collaboration with 
development organisations to 
leverage resources and expertise. 
We actively seek partnerships 
with regional and international 
development agencies, 
multilateral institutions, and 
other stakeholders to maximise 
our impact. Through these 
partnerships, we gain access 
to additional funding sources, 
technical expertise, and best 
practices. We believe that by 
working collaboratively, we can 
scale up our interventions, expand 
our reach, and deliver more 
impactful development outcomes.
SME Programme in Rwanda

The Bank has partnered with the National 
Bank of Rwanda to mobilise local currency to 
support enterprises, especially the MSME in 
key sectors to establish an SME programme 
in Rwanda. In September 2023, the Bank 
signed a Master Swap Agreement with 
the National Bank of Rwanda to provide a 
framework for mobilising the local currency 
for on-lending to eligible projects in Rwanda.

Collaboration with UNFCCC

The Bank has been collaborating with the 
UNFCCC on issues related to climate change 
since 2013. The Regional Collaboration 
Centre for Eastern and Southern Africa 
(RCC ESA), and the Eastern Africa Alliance 
on Carbon Markets and Climate Finance 
are both hosted at the Bank’s Head Office 
in Kampala. Climate change is one of the 
greatest challenges facing the world today, 
with negative impacts within the East African 
region, and it requires urgent action to ensure 
adaptation and mitigation. The challenges 
pose threats to sustainable socio-economic 
development. The unpredictable changes in 
weather patterns, floods, and droughts make 
it difficult to plan for the Member States. Most 
of the East African countries are dependent 
on climate-sensitive economic sectors, such 

as agriculture, for output and income generation. 
Achieving a just transition, whereby climate 
objectives are achieved without depriving Member 
States of the opportunity to grow and prosper, 
requires capital and dedicated sustenance. EADB 
is strategically placed to help by directing capital 
to markets that have both the greatest opportunity 
to adopt low-carbon technology and some of 
the toughest transition-financing and climate 
challenges. 

In 2023, the collaboration with UNFCCC enabled 
EADB to participate in the Africa Climate Summit 
and Africa Climate Week in Nairobi, in September 
2023. Earlier in the year, the Bank was able to 
participate in the Climate Finance strategic 
workshop in Arusha from April 17-19, 2023, 
organised by the East African Community (EAC). 
Three Bank staff from Treasury, Operations, and 
the Director General’s Office benefited

Africa Climate Summit And Africa Climate 
Week 2023

The Africa Climate Summit asserts that achieving 
effective climate action necessitates the active 
participation of various stakeholders. While 
governments and multilateral institutions play a 
fundamental role, the private sector, civil society, 
philanthropic institutions, and local communities all 
have vital contributions to make. Climate change 
poses significant risks to the global community, 

UNFCCC organised discussion 
on the Nationally Determined 
Contributions (NDCs)

We actively seek 
partnerships 
with regional 
and international 
development 
agencies, 
multilateral 
institutions, 
and other 
stakeholders to 
maximize our 
impact.
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with physical effects causing 
substantial economic losses. Over the 
past decade, storms, wildfires, and 
floods have resulted in substantial GDP 
losses. Africa faces severe climate-
related challenges, including drought, 
desertification, and increasing cyclones, 
leading to displacement, migration, 
and food crises. The continent is 
also disproportionately affected by 
the global temperature rise and is 
projected to experience escalating 
physical climate risks. Additionally, 
African governments' limited ability to 
respond to the climate crisis due to 
debt-distress and economic shocks 
necessitates urgent action to provide 
debt relief and increased liquidity.

The UNFCCC organised sessions to 
deliberate on the Nationally Determined 
Contributions (NDCs),which are at the 
heart of the Paris Agreement. NDCs 
embody efforts by each country to 
reduce national emissions and adapt 
to the impacts of climate change. The 
Paris Agreement (Article 4, paragraph 
2) requires each party to prepare, 
communicate, and maintain successive 
nationally determined contributions 
(NDCs) that it intends to achieve . 

Parties pursue domestic mitigation 
measures, with the aim of achieving the 
objectives of such contributions.

The East African Development Bank, 
together with other Multilateral 
Development Banks (MDBs),  offer 
support by providing long-term 
development financial solutions to 
key stakeholders in the East African 
Region in terms of loans, equity, 
grants, and other innovative financial 
mechanisms to the investors to enable 
them to de-risk their investments 
for the successful delivery of 
climate action. The private sector's 
investment is crucial in mobilising the 
necessary capital, while multilateral 
institutions  can de-risk projects 
and drive innovation. Civil society, 
especially women and youth, ensure 
accountability, efficiency, and science-
based focus on climate action. Local 
and indigenous communities provide 
invaluable perspectives, ensuring 
sustainable and just development 
pathways align with their needs.

The increase in carbon and other 
greenhouse gases’ emissions into the 
atmosphere, which result in global 
warming are affecting the planet.

A high-level delegation discussing A New Global Financing Pact A high-level 
delegation discussing A New Global Financing Pact

Commitments and Pledges: 

At the Africa Climate Summit, 
leaders were called upon to 
make ambitious pledges and 
commitments. A comprehensive 
“Pledge and Commitment 
Framework” was developed to guide 
these actions. At the end of the 
summit, “THE AFRICAN LEADERS 
NAIROBI DECLARATION ON 
CLIMATE CHANGE AND CALL TO 
ACTION” was launched . The African 
Heads of State and Government 
gathered for the inaugural Africa 
Climate Summit (ACS) in Nairobi, 
Kenya, in September,2023, in the 
presence of other global leaders, 
intergovernmental organisations, 
regional economic communities, 
United Nations agencies, the private 
sector, civil society organisations, 
indigenous peoples, local 
communities, farmer organisations, 
children, youth, women, and 
academia and made the 67-point 
declaration. By embracing 
ambitious ideas and making bold 
commitments, we can turn the tide 
on climate change, not only in Africa 
but also globally.
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The Global landscapes forum Nairobi 
2023

Hosted in Nairobi, Kenya, and online, the GLF 
Nairobi 2023 Hybrid Conference: A New Vision 
for Earth, held on October 11-12,2023, marking 
the 10th anniversary of the Global Landscapes 
Forum, brought 7,000 participants from 130 
countries, along with 218 speakers and 121 
global and local partner organisations, to pave 
a path to a fairer world ahead of COP28. The 
global event reached 27 million people via social 
media and media channels, with more than 
170,000 engagements. Across 89 plenaries, 
expert and interactive sessions, side events, 
networking sessions, onsite presentations, 
and inspirational talks, as well as concerts and 
artistic performances, the conference sparked 
vibrant conversations on local solutions to 
the global climate and ecological crises in 
2023. GLF Nairobi united scientists, activists, 
Indigenous leaders, financiers, journalists, 
youth, and government leaders to envision a 
new Earth, showcasing the collective power to 
address global climate and ecological crises 
through transformative relationships with 
us, each other, and the planet. The impact of 
the conference resonated through the direct 
positive feedback from participants in Nairobi 
as well as from our global digital audience: The 
theme of the EADB-sponsored session was: 

“The Contribution of Multi-Lateral Development 
Banks in addressing the current and future 
Environmental and Climate Change crises 
affecting Food security; Indigenous Peoples, 
youth, communities, smallholders, and women, 
within the East African Region” .

The Director General made opening remarks , 
setting the stage for an array of distinguished 
panellists with a wealth of knowledge who, 
thereafter, discussed the topic in detail. 

The session addressed how African Sovereign 
Solutions could offer rural development and 
green jobs to the host communities, youth, 
indigenous peoples, smallholders, and women, 
with limited or no access to financial solutions 
to improve household income and stimulate 
development at the grassroots (Plate 8). On 
the Survival Guide for a Planet in Crisis, the 
session addressed how access to climate 
finance by the private sector, SMEs, and 

MSMEs could improve the current climate 
crises, affecting the rural communities, youth, 
communities, smallholders, and women within 
the East African Region. This will be possible 
through improved agricultural practices like the 
provision of solar-powered irrigation systems, 
agro-forestry practices, improved livestock 
rearing, conservation of natural ecosystems, 
and constant monitoring, verification, and 
reporting. At the end of the session, various 
international and national bodies expressed 
interest in collaborating with EADB and 
invited the Director General  to speak at 
their pavilions at the United Nations Climate 
Change Conference, COP28, held in Dubai 
from November 30th  to December 12th ,2023. 
The organisers also invited the EADB’s DG to 
close an important plenary session given the 
significant contribution the EADB is making 
to the region . Plenary Title: A New Vision for 
a Warming Earth, GLF Nairobi 2023, October 
12,2023.  

The United Nations climate change 
conference at the Expo city in Dubai from 
30 November to 12 December 2023

The 28th United Nations Conference of the 
Parties Summit (COP28) was convened in 
Dubai at the Expo City from November 30 to 
December 12,2023. The EADB delegation of 
five staff was led by the Director General to 
discuss the pertinent issues affecting the East 
African Region because of climate change, 
and hold bilateral discussions with the Green 
Climate Fund, UNFCCCC, and other potential 
partners, multilateral development banks, 

7,000 
participants

130 
Countries

218 
Speakers

reached 
27 million 
people via 
social media 
and media 
channels, 
with more 
than 170,000 
engagements
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and development financial institutions with shared values 
towards the socio-economic development of the East African 
region. EADB received accreditation to attend COP28 for the 
five staff members through Uganda’s Ministry of Water and 
Environment. 

The Director General  was officially invited by the UK 
government on behalf of Clean Energy Transition Partnership 
(CETP) speak at the side event on Energy Day at the UK 
Pavilion Event (Plate 13)

EADB ESG Engagements With Other Partners

In 2023, the Bank participated in several collaborative 
engagements with international, regional and national 
institutions on the different aspects of ESG, and Green 
Finance, among others. The partners include the following,

i.	 Environmental, Natural Resources and Climate 
Change Development Partners’ Group (ECC-DPG).

ii.	 Coalition for Green Capital (CGC).

iii.	 CIFOR-ICRAF.

iv.	 Development Bank of South Africa.

v.	 Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures 
(TCFD).

vi.	 Development Bank of Southern Africa.

vii.	 Green Climate Fund.

viii.	 Green Horizon Summit.

ix.	 UK Government. 

x.	 World Bank

International Credit Rating

Moody's Investors Service in October 2023 affirmed the East 
African Development Bank's (EADB) long-term issuer rating 
of Baa3 and maintained the stable outlook. The Moody's 
decision to affirm the rating reflects the Bank's strong capital 
position, which acts as a key mitigant for low development 
asset quality due to its geographical mandate and a legacy of 
non-performing assets. The liquidity and funding benefit from 
relatively robust liquidity levels.

The stable outlook reflects a balance of upside and downside 
risks. Moody's expectation is that EADB adopt a cautious 
approach to new lending and will continue to develop its risk 
management framework while maintaining robust capital 
adequacy and prudent liquidity levels.

EADB is one of the eight institutions in Africa with an 
investment grade rating. The Bank will leverage its international 
credit rating to mobilise resources to support sustainable 
social and economic development in the region.

1. The Director General, Vivienne Yeda with 
the EADB staff at COP28 in Dubai

2. EADB Director General, Vivienne Yeda 
speaking at the CETP event, UK Pavilion 
in Dubai

3. 	EADB DG Vivienne Yeda discussing 
accreditation progress with the GCF officials.

4. EADB Director General, Vivienne Yeda 
speaking at the CETP event, UK Pavilion in 
Dubai

5. EADB attending the UNFCCC 
event on the Finance Day

1 2 3

4

5
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Financing agreements signed

In January 2023, the Bank signed a multicurrency line of 
credit agreement with Development the Bank of Southern 
Africa (DBSA) for USD 100 million. The Bank will use the 
funding to finance eligible social and infrastructure projects in 
the EADB member states.  

In July 2023, the Bank signed a Line of Credit Agreement with 
the Arab Bank for Economic Development in Africa (BADEA) 
for USD 50 million. This funding will be used to finance eligible 
private sector projects in the EADB member states. 

Extension of rural finance enhancement program 
Uganda

In October 2023, the Bank signed an on-channeling agreement 
with Uganda’s Ministry of Finance, Planning, and Economic 

Development (MoFPED) for the extension of the Rural 
Finance Enhancement Programme, financed by the financial 
cooperation between Germany and Uganda. The Bank will 
use these funds to offer lines of credit facilities to financially 
sustainable financial institutions for on-lending to farmers and 
other MSME enterprises in rural areas of Uganda. 

Burundi’s accession to the bank

The Republic of Burundi has confirmed its subscription to 
3,800 paid-in shares as provided in the Governing Council 
approval. Burundi has further committed to paying initial 
capital subscription in FY 2023-2024. The entry of Burundi will 
strengthen the bank’s capital base and bolster EADB’s role as a 
platform for wider collaboration among EAC partner states.

Treasury Operations
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Lending Operations 
Figure 2.1: Portfolio Snapshot (USD Million) as at 31/12/2023

Outstanding Amount

1 USD 97.55 82.7%

2 UGX 11.82 10.0%

3 KES 4.63 4.0%

4 EUR 2.65 2.2%

5 Other 1.35 1.1%

Outstanding Amount

1 Tanzania 73.67 62.4%

2 Uganda 33.26 28.2%

3 Kenya 7.68 6.5%

4 Rwanda 3.39 2.9%

Outstanding Amount

1 73.67 62.4%

2 33.26 28.2%

3 7.68 6.5%

4 3.39 2.9%
Outstanding Amount

1 Government 63.30 53.6%

2 Agrro. Marine 12.89 10.9%

3 Commercial 
Banks

12.09 10.3%

4 Development 
Finance

7.64 6.5%

5 Other 22.07 18.7%

97.8 percent of the Bank’s 
portfolio does not have 
adverse environmental and 
social (E&S) impacts. 76.9 
percent of the portfolio 
falls in the Bank’s 3rd E&S 
grade, comprising projects 
with little environmental or 
social impact that require 
minimum environmental 

and social due diligence. 
Another 20.9 percent in the 
4th E&S grade comprises 
EADB lines of credit 
with partner National 
Development Banks and 
Commercial Banks.  

The United States dollar remained the dominant currency in the 
bank’s portfolio, accounting for 82.7 percent (USD 97.55 million) of 
the gross portfolio, compared to 73.8 percent (USD 100.58 million) 
of the gross portfolio as of December 31,2022.

Portfolio Snapshot by Currency

Portfolio Snapshot by Sector

Portfolio Snapshot by E&S Grades

Portfolio Snapshot by Country

Tanzania had the largest 
portfolio, amounting to 62.4 
percent (USD 73.67 million) 
of the gross portfolio. 
Uganda’s portfolio was 
second at 28.2 percent 
(USD 33.26 million), 
followed by Kenya at 6.5 
percent valued at USD 7.68 

million, and Rwanda at 2.9 
percent valued at USD 3.39 
million. In comparison to 
2023, the bank’s portfolio 
declined in Tanzania, Kenya, 
Rwanda, and Uganda due 
to repayments and charge 
offs during the year. 

Government lending was the sector with the highest exposure 
(USD 63.30 million), followed by Agro, Marine, and Food 
Processing (USD 12.89 million), Commercial Banks (USD 12.09 
million), and Development Financial Institutions (USD 7.64 million), 
which accounted for 53.6 percent, 10.9 percent, 10.3 percent, and 
6.5 percent of the portfolio, respectively 

Business Report 
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Disbursements went to private projects engaged in agricultural production in Uganda; lines of 
credit to two partner commercial Banks for SME lending in Uganda; and sovereign lending to the 
Government of the United Republic of Tanzania (URT). The lines of credit with partner commercial 
banks were implemented under the Agri-Finance Enhancement Program. Lending to the government 
of URT went to an infrastructure project of the Standard Gauge Railway (SGR).

Long-term loans are the main product of the EADB. As of December 31,2023, the long-term loan 
accounted for 88.1 percent of the total loan portfolio, with a gross exposure of USD 103.95 million 
out of a total loan exposure of USD 117.99 million. In comparison to the previous year, it accounted 
for 92.08 percent of a gross loan exposure of USD 136.31 million. 

Portfolio performance 

All the top ten exposures were within the stipulated policy limit of 15 percent of the bank’s net worth, 
and the sovereign debt was within the policy limit of 25 percent of the bank’s net worth. The top ten 
exposures amounted to USD 107.168 million, equivalent to 90.8 percent of the gross portfolio and 
34.04 percent of the Bank’s net worth. All four member states had projects in the top ten exposures. 
Under the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) classification, all the top ten project 
exposures were performing. 

 As of December 31,2023, 99.1% of the portfolio was performing. Total non-performing loans (NPLs) 
decreased to USD 1.03 million as of December 31,2023 from USD 5.21 million the previous year 
ended December 31,2023. Table 2.3 provides a breakdown of the portfolio quality for the period 
2021 - 2023.

 Table 2.3 –Portfolio Quality (USD million)

  December 2023 December 2022     December 2021

Gross Loans 117.99 100% 136.31 100%   167.87 100%

Stage 1: Normal 116.96 99.1% 112.37 82.5% 148.98 88.7%

Stage 2: Watch 0.00 0.0% 18.73 13.7% 13.49 8.1%

Performing 

Portfolio
116.96 99.1% 131.10 96.2% 162.47 96.8%

Stage 3: Loss 1.03 0.9% 5.21 3.8% 5.40 3.2%

Non-performing 
Portfolio 1.03 0.9%   5.21    3.8% 5.40 3.2%

As of December 31,2023, arrears had risen by USD 0.365 million compared to the previous year. 
Seven projects were in arrears amounting to USD 1.134 million, compared to USD 0.769 million as 
of December 31,2022. Three of the projects in arrears constituted 99 percent of the arrears while the 
other four constituted 1 percent.

As of 31 December 
2023, performing 

portfolio

Total Non-
performing Loans 
(NPLs) decreased

99.1%

USD 1.03
million
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EADB’s commitments

In demonstrating its commitment to environmental 
stewardship, EADB has pledged to achieve carbon neutrality 
and has joined the Clean Energy Transition Partnership 
(CETP), imposing restrictions on transactions related to 
fossil fuels and coal-based power generation or mining. The 
bank also precludes direct financing of projects involving 
exploration or development in National Wildlife Conservation 
Areas or UNESCO World Heritage Sites.

Green financing and sustainable projects

Under its ESG policy, EADB is committed to protecting the 
environment and promoting sustainable practices. The 
Bank’s environmental strategy involves funding eco-friendly 
projects and implementing green financing models. EADB 
takes into consideration the potential environmental impact 
of all projects it finances and adheres to a set of environmental 
standards designed to minimise harm. Additionally, EADB 
has shown commitment to the principles of the Paris 
Agreement by integrating climate risk assessments into their 
lending practices and investing in projects that support the 
transition to a low-carbon and climate-resilient economy.

Environmental and social impact tracking

In 2023, the ESG Unit of the Bank developed Due Diligence 
Reports for the potential projects from the four Member 
States presented by the Country Offices (Uganda, Kenya, 
Tanzania, and Rwanda) for the purpose of a detailed 
appraisal before admission into the Bank’s pipeline. In 
addition to that, an internal Environmental and Social Risk 
Management Performance Report was also developed, 
covering representative pipeline projects being financed by 
the Bank in the Member States in accordance with the Bank’s 
ESG-related policy requirements. As of October 31,2023, 
the Bank had a total of 27 projects, out of which one was 
categorised under medium risk, 10 under low risk, and 16 
under the financial intermediary category (Table 1).  The 
percentage portfolio performance in terms of risk categories 
shows; medium risk at 3.70%, Low Risk 37.04%, and financial 
institutions 59.26%. From the analysis, financial institutions 
are the most funded, followed by low-risk projects and 
finally, medium risk.  As of the end of 2023, the bank had 
never admitted any of the high-activity-risk projects into its 
pipeline because of the sensitivity of handling the mitigation 
measures associated with such projects.

31 October 2023

27 Projects

1 

10 
16 Financial Intermediary 

Category

The percentage Portfolio performance 
in terms of risk categories show;

Low Risk

37.04% 
Low Risk projects

59.26% 
Financial Intermediary 
Category

3.70% 
Medium Risk 
projects

Medium Risk

Environmental Stewardship

EADB has shown 
commitment to the 

principles of the 
Paris Agreement by 

integrating climate risk 
assessments into its 
lending practices and 

investing in projects that 
support the transition 
to a low-carbon and 

climate-resilient 
economy.
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Table 1: Summary of E&S Risk Classification of Projects in the Portfolio

Category Description of E&S Risk Portfolio Projects

No. Percentage 
(%)

High Risk

Activities on this list, due to their inherent characteristics, such as, for 
example, complex industrial processes, the use of scarce or hazardous 
resources, or the scale of operations, have the potential to cause 
significant and/or long-term environmental and/or social impacts or have 
significant environmental liabilities associated with them, the magnitude 
of which is difficult to determine at the loan application stage.

0 0

1 (Category A) Projects are likely to have significant adverse environmental and social 
impacts that are sensitive, diverse, irreversible, or unprecedented. 0 0

2 Medium Risk 
(Category B)

Projects for which the environmental and social impacts can be readily 
predicted, prevented, and/or mitigated given appropriate levels of a 
borrower’s financial and technical/managerial capabilities.

1 3.70

3 (Low Risk) These activities have little environmental or social impact and require a 
minimum of environmental and social due diligence 10 37.04

4 Financial Institutions 
(FI-4) 

Screening of all final loans (under the EADB credit line) against the EADB 
Exclusion List and adherence to all the ESG requirements 16 59.26

Total 27 100.00

Source: EADB Portfolio data as of 31 October 2023.

The comparative analysis of the bank’s ESG portfolio for 2022 and 2023 shows a reduction of the total number of projects from 
35 in 2022 to 27 in 2023. This is because, clients had paid off and exited the portfolio, and the overall E&S categorisation shows an 
improvement in performance as summarised below (Table 2). The total number of projects under the Uganda Country Office (COU) 
in 2022 was 16, but in 2023, there was a decline to 12, because four clients had paid off their facilities and exited the portfolio. In 
Kenya, there were 11 projects in 2022, and the number dropped to 9 in 2023, in Tanzania; there are currently 5 projects, which is a 
decline from 6 in 2022; and finally, in Rwanda, the number of projects in 2022 was 2 and dropped to 1 in 2023 (Table 2). There is 
therefore, only one project in Kenya, under the Medium Risk Category in 2023 which is consistent with the 2022, due to the nature 
of the project and the E&S impacts, which must be closely monitored throughout the project cycle.

Table 2: Comparative Analysis of EADB Environmental and Social Risk Management Portfolio for 2021 and 2022

Country 
Office

Category A (1) Medium Risk 
Activity (2)

Low Risk 

Activity (3)

Financial 
Intermediary (4)

Total

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023

Uganda - - - - 9 6 7 6 16 12

Kenya - - 1 1 4 2 6 6 11 9

Tanzania - - - - 3 2 3 3 6 5

Rwanda - - - - 1 - 1 1 2 1

Total - - 1 1 17 10 17 16 35 27
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EADB is committed to sustainability and has developed a 
robust sustainability strategy that aligns with the bank’s 
strategic pillars and 11 of the United Nations’ Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs). The strategy will be implemented 
based on the features of the four-pillared approach, aimed at 
improving financial performance, fostering high performance 
and innovation, enhancing brand presence, and proactively 
managing risk. The objectives of the sustainability strategy are 
directly linked to SDGs 1-10 and 13. These goals encompass 
ending poverty and hunger, promoting good health, quality 
education, gender equality, water and sanitation, affordable 
and sustainable energy, sustained economic growth, resilient 
infrastructure and industrialisation, reduced inequality, and 
urgent action to combat climate change. In 2023, EADB made 
significant strides towards materialising its sustainability 
strategy. The Bank held a discussion with the officials from 
the Green Climate Fund (GCF), an organisation dedicated 
to fighting climate change, to discuss the first stage where 

Empowering communities and promoting equality

Social responsibility is a critical pillar of EADB’s ESG strategy. 
The Bank is dedicated to improving the livelihoods of East 
Africans by financing projects that create jobs, improve 
education, and enhance healthcare. One of EADB’s signature 
initiatives, in this regard, is the increase in funding access 
for small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in rural areas and 
agricultural value chains. Through such initiatives, EADB 
is fostering economic growth and social development in 
underserved communities. Moreover, EADB has made 
strides towards promoting gender equality and women’s 
empowerment. The bank supports projects that provide equal 
opportunities for women, recognising their potential as drivers 
of economic growth and social progress.

Our Sustainability Perspective
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01
no po ve rt y

02
zero hunger

03
good hea lt h 

and well-being

04
qu alit y education

05
gender equ alit y

06
clean water 

and sani ta tion

07
affor dable 

and clean energy

08
decent work and 
economic gro wt h

09
indust ry , inno vation 
and infrastru cture

10
reduced 

ineq ualities

11
sus ta inable cities 
and communities

12
responsible 

consumption and 
produ ction

13
climate ac tion

14
life be lo w water

15
life on l and

16
 peace, justice and 

strong institutions

17
part nerships 
for the go als

EADB had reached and was awaiting the final decision to gain 
accreditation as a Regional Implementing Entity (RIE).

The Bank continued with the application process for 
accreditation with the Adaptation Fund (AF), an international 
fund that finances projects and programmes, aimed at helping 
developing countries adapt to the harmful effects of climate 
change. Complementing these external affiliations, EADB 
undertook several internal initiatives to further its sustainability 
drive. These include capturing business value, developing 
new sustainable businesses, ensuring the core business 
operations are sustainable, building necessary capabilities, and 
owning the narrative, thereby effectively engaging investors 
and stakeholders. Through these efforts, EADB seeks to 
demonstrate its unwavering commitment to sustainability, 
foster economic development that respects the planet, and 
contribute positively to the communities it serves, thereby 
setting a brilliant example of responsible and progressive 
banking in East Africa

.
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•	 During the construction phase, the project directly created 
employment for more than 350 people and indirectly for service 
providers supplying materials, food, and other services.

•	 The project currently employs 191 people, indirectly through 
support companies like cleaning and security companies. The 
project also contributes to social economic growth by elevating 
the income levels of households through improved earnings.

•	 The project has led to improvements in health service 
delivery, the protection of health workers and patients from 
communicable diseases, and the provision of direct and indirect 
employment opportunities within the supply chain.

•	 The project is in line with the Uganda Vision 2040 strategic 
focus for transformation to an industrial- based economy. 

•	 The project is a significant contribution to the health sector, 
as there is no such facility available in the country or the East 
African Region at large.

•	 Other positive impacts include technology transfer, an 
increase in business premises and opportunities, an increase 
in government revenue, the promotion of competition, and an 
improvement in standards of living.

 
East Africa Medical Vitals Ltd takes health 
service delivery to a new height

350

190

During the construction 
phase, the project 
directly created 
employment

Employed indirectly 
through support 
companies

Creating Socio-Economic Outcomes
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Tanzania electrifies its Standard 
Gauge Railway (SGR)

The Standard Gauge Railway (SGR) is a 
key component of Tanzania’s improved 
transport system for accelerating socio-
economic development. In December 
2023, the Bank approved a participation 
of USD 20 million in the syndicated term-
loan facility in favour of the United Republic 
of Tanzania. EADB’s facility part-financed 
the construction of Lots 3 and 4 for the 
Electrified Standard Gauge Railway (SGR) 
Project in Tanzania. 

The SGR will contribute to economic growth 
through creating a conducive environment 
for private sector investments, job creation, 
and foreign exchange earnings. The SGR 

is expected to transform the Central 
Transport Corridor into an economic zone 
by enhancing trade and manufacturing 
opportunities and reducing dependency 
on road trucking, which is associated 
with high accident rates and maintenance 
costs. It will connect key economic zones, 
industrial parks, Inland Container Depots, 
and population centres along the corridor, 
thus promoting economic activities 
and resilience through the creation and 
development of institutions managing 
the new railway sector and supporting 
capacity building through skills training. 
SGR will also link the port of Dar es Salaam 
to the neighbouring landlocked countries 
(Rwanda, Uganda, Burundi, and the DRC).

Expanding access to Finance for SMEs

Over the period 2018–2023, EADB disbursed USD 39.04 million through lines of credit to nine partner financial institutions (PFIs) 
in Kenya and Uganda for on-lending to small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in rural enterprises and agricultural value chains. 
During 2023, EADB disbursed USD 4.5 million to PFIs. EADB’s funding gives partner banks local currency funding and a pricing 
incentive to increase lending appetite towards agriculture and SMEs. With EADB catalytic finance, SMEs play a key role in providing 
employment and income opportunities. As a result, the PFIs had disbursed a total of 8,035 agricultural and SME loans by the end 
of 2023, of which 1,122 were disbursed during 2023. The total value of agricultural and SME loans disbursed by PFIs stood at USD 
81.68 million as of end of 2023, more than double the value of EADB lines of credit. In 2023, the value of loans disbursed by PFIs to 
SMEs amounted to USD 10.10 million, reflecting a significant contribution towards supporting the recovery of SMEs. A breakdown 
of EADB lines of credit and loans disbursed by PFIs is shown in Table 3.1 below.

Table 3.1: EADB SME Lines of Credit (USD Million)

SME Programs

Funds from EADB to 

PFIs

Value of SME Loans from 

PFIs 
No. of SME Loans

Total 2023 Total 2023 Total 2023
Agriculture Enhancement 

Program 
17.17 4.5 46.7 6.42 6,871 1,011

Rural Finance Program 14.27 27.32 2.42 869 47

Agriculture Finance Kenya 7.60 7.66 1.26 295 64

Total 39.04 4.5 81.68 10.10 8,035 1,122
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(i)	 The transition to Net Zero

climate change - is one of the most pressing issues of our age. EADB is committed to helping clients transition to net-
zero, holding ourselves accountable, informing and inspiring a sustainable future, and advancing net-zero leadership 
in our operations. EADB has a Climate Change Policy, commitments that support achieving net-zero in our lending 
by 2050, such as the Carbon Neutrality and the Joint Public Statement to transition from fossil fuels to clean energy. 
Supporting our approach is a fundamental belief that this multi-decade transition to a net-zero future must be just, 
orderly, and inclusive – balancing the needs of individuals, companies, regions, society, and the economy.

In 2023, the Bank continued to enhance its focus on environmental and social risk management (ESM) and remained 
committed to carbon neutrality in order to achieve net-zero emissions. Net-zero emissions will be achieved when any 
remaining human-caused greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are balanced out by removing GHGs from the atmosphere 
in a process known as carbon removal.

Most importantly, human-caused emissions, such as those from fossil-fueled vehicles and factories, should be 
significantly reduced, as close to zero as possible. Any remaining GHGs would be balanced with an equivalent amount 
of carbon removal, for example, by restoring forests, wetlands, and mangroves or through the application of the 
technology known as direct air capture and storage (DACS).

(ii)	 Gender inclusion

EADB believes that the differences, when utilised, will make a huge difference. EADB has a gender policy and action plan 
and is committed to advancing gender diversity by driving equitable opportunities for pay, promotion, and development, 
and by improving diversity in leadership at all levels, across all segments. EADB is also committed to strengthening 
inclusion, with a focus on enhancing inclusive leadership capabilities among the people, nurturing an enabling 
environment, and leading with alertness.

(iii)	 Building communities and enabling economic inclusion 

Building communities and enabling economic inclusion: The society cannot progress if people and communities are 
at risk of dipping. EADB’s commitment to helping young East Africans prepare for a drastically changing workforce by 
offering scholarship opportunities under - corporate social responsibility. The EADB is also committed to supporting 
its clients’ financial wellness and enabling economic inclusion, such as by influencing equitable access to financial 
products and services and leveraging our purchasing power to influence supplier diversity efforts.

EADB  considers sustainable finance  as a significant growth opportunity for its clients and business. The Bank is providing 
technical support to the Climate Finance Unit of the Ministry of Finance, Planning, and Economic Development (MoFPED) in 
the development of the National Climate Finance Strategy (NCFS) for the Government of the Republic of Uganda. The Bank 
is also supporting the development and implementation of the East African Community Climate Finance Strategy.

Action against Climate change

Climate change poses significant challenges to agriculture, 
impacting crop production, water availability, and overall food 
security. EADB recognises the urgent need to build climate 
resilience in the agricultural sector and has launched several 
initiatives to mitigate its effects.

The bank provides financial support for climate-smart 
agricultural practices, such as conservation agriculture, 
agroforestry, and improved irrigation systems. By investing 
in renewable energy and promoting sustainable land 
management practices, the Bank helps reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions and ensures the preservation of natural 
resources. 

Furthermore, EADB actively supports innovative climate risk 
management tools. These schemes provide farmers with 
financial protection against climate-related risks, allowing 

them to recover from crop losses and continue their 
farming activities.

EADB recognises that sustainable development depends 
upon a positive interaction between economic and 
social development on the one hand and environmental 
protection on the other.  The Bank contributes to 
sustainable development through financing activities and, 
therefore, acknowledges that, identifying and managing 
environmental and climate change risks should be part of 
the normal process of risk assessment and management.

The aim of the Bank’s sustainable development approach 
to environmental, social, and governance (ESG) issues is to 
help tackle some of the societal greatest challenges where 
EADB operates in accordance with the key focus areas. 
These include, among others:
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Risk Governance Structure

The Board oversees the risk management strategy and 
framework considering the risk appetite, prudential capital 
and liquidity requirements and strategic and business 
priorities of the Bank. The Executive Management is 
delegated by the Board to support them in the realization of 
this vision. The following framework assists Management 
in the oversight and management of risks as delegated by 
the Board:

•	 The Credit Committee (PROCO) reviews issues relating 
to credit risk appetite and credit risk management 
strategy.

•	 The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) focuses 
on balance sheet risk management; and managing 
market risk and liquidity risk tolerances.

•	 The Bank’s risk management function designs and 
oversees a Risk Management Framework to allow the 
Bank to identify, measure and manage risks within 
the Board-approved risk appetite. The Bank’s risk 
management is based on the ‘three lines of defence’ 
model namely the Risk generation; Risk controllers and 
Risk assurance. The overarching principle of the model 
is that risk management capability must be embedded 
within the business to be effective and maintain 
independence and appropriate segregation of tasks 
between risk generation, controllers, and assurance 
units. The Risk Management Framework covers all 
systems, structures, policies, processes, and people 
that identify, measure, evaluate, monitor, report and 
control or mitigate both internal and external sources 
of material risk.

Strategic Risk

The Bank continually focuses on maintaining a robust and active 
business strategy and strategic planning process. This strategy focuses 
on business growth and healthy capital retention. There are defined key 
performance indicators for all the strategic goals and the respective 
score cards. We continually monitor strategies being implemented and 
align them with internal resources, processes, and bank objectives. The 
Bank periodically updates its business operational framework to adapt 
to modern business operational trends or technological advancements. 

Liquidity Risk

The Bank maintains a robust liquidity risk management framework with 
a funding strategy that focuses on fund diversification, covering sources 
and tenors of funding. Stress testing scenarios, contingency planning, 
and funding gap analysis are conducted periodically and augmented 
by good governance and ethical practices to mitigate the risk of being 
unable to meet short-term obligations or fund operational activities. The 
Bank maintains adequate liquid assets to match market liquidity ratios 
through proactive monitoring of market developments, conditions, and 
exposures.

Key Risk Profiling
The principal risks impacting 
EADB are continuously 
assessed to ascertain whether 
appropriate mitigating 
measures are in place to 
ensure the residual exposures 
are within acceptable limits. 
These principal risks are 
catalogued as EADB’s risk 
universe and guide us in 
managing the risks day in 
and day out. The catalogue 
undergoes a regular revision 
based on the input of the day-
to-day situational analysis and 
as the bank reviews its risk 
appetite.
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Credit Risk

The Bank’s credit risk management and portfolio monitoring 
processes constantly monitor the default risk, concentration 
risk, and interest rate risk. Default risk mitigation aims at 
administering credit rating scores backed by credit granting 
criteria, lending limits, and collateral adequacy requirements, 
limiting non-performing loans (NPLs), and complying with 
loan loss provisioning levels. To mitigate concentration 
risk, the Bank observes timely classification, single obligor, 
and related party exposure, as well as sector concentration 
limits. The Bank maintains a robust interest rate risk 
management framework, which enables sensitivity analysis 
and stress testing of the interest rate variable coupled with a 
pricing mechanism in consideration of the macro-economic 
environment.

Market Risk

The Bank tracks net open positions and earnings at risk 
positions to manage exposure due to adverse changes in 
currency exchange rates by maintaining risk limits and 
carrying out sensitivity analysis and stress testing scenarios 
for the FX variable. The Bank also tracks inflationary risk 
due to changes in prices of articles of trade by maintaining 
risk limits and monitoring frameworks for macro-economic 
variables. 

Operational Risk

The main operational risks comprise cybersecurity risk, 
business continuity risk, people risk, reputational risk, service 
quality risk, and fraud risk. The Bank has an appropriate 
cybersecurity framework, an employee cyber awareness 
mechanism, an information management mechanism, 
an incident response plan, and the management of risks 
introduced by increased reliance on technologies. We pay 
deliberate attention to the development of real time incident 
resolution capabilities to avert risk exposures associated 
with disruptions in business operations. This strategy 
focuses on prevention and recovery from potential cropping-
up threats to the bank. It ensures that bank personnel, assets, 

and operations are protected and can function quickly in the 
event of the risk exposures that manifest. The Bank also 
maintains backup systems and Disaster Recovery  sites and 
undertakes frequent testing. We also maintain appropriate 
human resource management frameworks, policies, and 
codes of conduct and undertake training and performance 
management reviews to ensure the achievement of people’s 
performance metrics. The Bank maintains an appropriate 
reputation risk management framework to control damage 
to the bank’s reputation due to negative public perception 
or loss of customer trust. During the year under review, 
the Bank tracked the number of customer complaints, 
satisfaction ratings, and media feedback as part of its 
complaint resolution process. Regarding risk exposures 
due to fraudulent activities and unethical behavior’s, the 
Bank maintains appropriate segregation of duties and 
independent controls and is focusing on strengthening the 
first line of control assurance capabilities.  

Compliance Risk

We have strengthened the bank’s standards of good practice 
applicable to its business activities and control framework 
and have maintained several layers of compliance oversight 
in line with the bank’s charter, internal prudential regulations 
and guidelines, policies, and industry. Through such a 
framework, the number of compliance failures, reputational 
damages, and litigation cases have been minimised.

Capital Risk

We track capital adequacy ratios, capital erosion matrices, 
and the rate at which capital is growing to mitigate risks 
relating to the adequacy of reserves needed to cushion 
and offer a strong buffer against unexpected or unplanned 
events. The Bank’s annual budget cycle forecasts the bank’s 
balance sheet capital plan trajectory. During the year under 
review, the Bank maintained a positive and increasing net 
worth as well as callable capital facilities. There is sufficient 
capital adequacy and prudential core capital  for risk-
weighted assets backed by stable earnings, stable access 
to funding, and stakeholder confidence. 
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ESG Risk

The Bank has an Environmental Social Governance (ESG) risk management framework to enhance oversight and 
management of ESG risks. The ESG risk management framework and processes are embedded within our credit approval 
processes and business operations. ESG risk is the exposure to the bank’s ability to achieve its strategic objective arising 
from direct and indirect impacts on the environment, society, and governance, as evidenced by sustainable development 
outcomes and ESG complaints. The Bank has established a dedicated ESG Unit to enhance the operationalization of the 
ESG Policy Framework. Through the ESG Unit, the Bank reviews its risk governance systems and processes to ensure they 
are aligned with global good practices. ESG Key Performance Indicators have been cascaded throughout the Bank. 

Financial Risk

During 2023, the Bank didn’t record a single anti-money laundering (AML) or corruption, terrorism, and fraud (CTF) incident. 
This was due to its robust AML/CTF control framework, which has zero tolerance for activities involving dishonest actions 
such as money laundering, fraud, corruption, and terrorist financing committed for personal financial and economic gain. 
The Bank has revised the Know Your Customer (KYC) requirements and upgraded the AML surveillance system to a more 
robust solution as per the modified AML/CFT policy. There is an AML/CFT risk score framework to facilitate the risk 
grading of our customers/projects. There is also proactive and continuous training and sensitization of our staff on key 
AML issues.

KEY RESULTS IN 2023

•	 Completed AML/CFT risk scoring metrics. We duly 
assessed money laundering risks within EADB 
counterparts and funded  projects. We are thus able 
to evaluate ML/TF risks and fulfil our compliance 
requirements and standards.

•	 We completed stress testing as mentioned above. 
Through stress testing, we have been able to measure the 
overall risk exposures and threats that, may undermine 
the strength of the balance sheet of a bank. We have 
instituted corresponding risk mitigation measures to 
address the highlighted exposures during the stress 
testing process.

•	 Undertaken detailed analysis of the Bank’s entire risk 
profile through updates to the risk register and application 

of the RCSA processes. We now know the precise 
risks the bank is exposed to and have instituted 
appropriate controls to mitigate these exposures.

•	 Through our monthly risk reports, we determine 
and communicate several high-important risks and 
the probable mitigations to management and staff 
to ensure the continuation of Bank’s operational 
activities and set priorities accordingly.

•	 We have maintained risk matrices and key risk 
indicators to support business operations. Note that 
KRIs play an important role in risk management by 
predicting potential high-risk areas and enabling 
timely action. With KRIs, we can identify current risk 
exposure and emerging risk trends. Highlight control 
weaknesses and allow for the strengthening of poor 
or inadequate controls. Facilitate the risk reporting 
and escalation process. These KRIs are metrics that 
alert bank businesses to potential threats or losses. 
Note that they are measurable, comparable, and 
effective in predicting unfavourable events and vary 
depending on the type of risk exposure.

•	 As emerging risks evolve, we have successfully 
designed ERM practices that are adaptable. Our 
ERM practices now enable us to identify future 
potential risk exposures that may have more 
detrimental impacts. In this manner, we consider 
our ERM practices proactive, given that we not only 
forecast risk based on what we have previously 
experienced but also on what is likely to come 
ahead. The bank is now more prepared for risks and 
uncertainties.

STRESS TESTING RISK-ADJUSTED ASSETS

Stress testing scenarios were developed to understand the 
possible consequences of various shocks on the financial 
robustness of the Bank, given the existing balance sheet and 
upon the materialisation of work plans and other business 
intentions. A process of stress testing was carried out with 
the aim of assessing key risk focal points, considering 
various developments in the bank’s environment. Three types 
of scenarios were examined:

(a)	 General systemic scenarios

(b)	 Reverse scenarios; and,

(c)	 Single-factor scenarios applied at the level of the sector, 
portfolio trends; liquidity trends; market exposure trends 
and capital adequacy trends.
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Risk Outlook 2024
•	 Reviewing operational risk to ensure all material risks 

inherent in the activities of the Bank are identified and 
managed in accordance with the risk appetite.

•	 Conduct a review of the Business Continuity 
Management Framework, define reference scenarios, 
map, and analyse critical processes and the resources 
required for the recovery of such processes during an 
emergency through the Business Impact Analysis [BIA].

•	 Maintain dynamic forecasting of capital and liquidity 
requirements considering the evolving macro - 
microeconomic landscape to ensure capital and 
liquidity risks remain well managed.

•	 Will continue balance sheet observance through stress 
testing mechanisms to support the bank’s strategy.

•	 Continually recognise ESG risks as one of the material 
risks going forward.

•	 Strengthening the AML/CFT control framework 
through our AML/CFT risk scoring metrics.

•	 Proactively, monitoring the macroeconomic 
environment. Our business performance is closely 
linked to the performance of the regional economies, 
which in turn are impacted by events in the global 
economy. We are currently witnessing challenging 
economic conditions. Hence the need to have this on 
our priority radar.

•	 We will continually review internal and external 
factors that could impact the Bank’s business 
activities and operations. We will still focus on both 
traditional and emerging risk exposures that we need 
to manage effectively in the years ahead. These risks 
include strategic related risks, financial -related risks, 
operational related risks, and compliance-related 
risks.
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Strategic Roadmap for 2024

IIn 2024, EADB will continue to 
expand its vision of promoting 
sustainable socio-economic 
development in the region by 
providing funding mainly focused 
on food security, climate resilient 
initiatives, clean energy transition, 
import substitution, and export 
development to alleviate the 
pressures on foreign currency 
reserves among member states. 
While this will improve the Bank’s 
development outcomes, the 
approach will remain prudent 
given the economic challenges 
in the region. High costs of living 
impacting consumer demand and 
a high interest rate environment 

are sure pointers towards elevated 
credit risk.

To support the envisaged growth, 
the Bank will continue with its 
efforts to mobilise resources both 
internationally and in the region. 
Continued collaboration with other 
development financial institutions 
and partner financial institutions 
will be critical in financing projects 
and supporting the SME sector, 
especially in agriculture and agro-
processing ventures.

The Bank will be seeking to 
build more efficiencies in its 
internal operations through the 
automation of systems and 

processes that have already 
been identified. Of particular 
focus will be the upgrading 
of the banking and financial 
management systems as well as 
the enhancement of IT security, 
given the heightened cyber risks 
on the horizon.

Finally, some capital expenditure 
will be incurred in 2024 
towards the improvement and 
maintenance of the Bank’s real 
estate, with a focus on preserving 
value and improving overall 
security around the premises.
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At EADB, we place a high premium on effective governance because it plays a pivotal 
role in ensuring the stability, transparency, and accountability of the enterprise. As a 
leading development finance institution in East Africa, our priority is to entrench robust 
governance practices to ensure the bank uphold its mission of fostering sustainable 
economic growth and regional integration.

Board Diversity 
EADB considers board diversity as a critical factor in 
ensuring the Bank remains committed to its purpose. We 
have learned from other markets that diversity matters, as 
companies that embrace gender, race and ethnic diversity 
perform better financially.  As part of our long-term strategy, 
EADB is committed to promoting diversity at board level. 
We strive for a transformed board that transcends biases 
and stereotypes. 

Gender ratio of the board in 2023

Board Skills and Expertise
Over the years, we have come to understand that EADB 
needs a wide range of abilities to flourish in this fast-paced 
business environment and to e nsure and create value in 
the best interests of all stakeholders. In response to the 
rapidly changing environment and changes in the Bank’s 
own long-term strategy, the board decides on the required 
skill mix. The Board will be well-positioned to direct and 
drive the bank’s strategy into the future and consequently 
create value if it has an appropriate combination of skills 
and expertise.

Female

Male

70%

30%

Board Sub-Committees 
The Board has two committees namely:

1.	 Board Human Resources Committee which is 
responsible for all staffing and related issues in the 
Bank 

2.	 Board Audit Committee which is responsible for all 
internal control issues. 

During the year under review, the Board of Directors met 
five times to deliberate on various issues including the 
Bank’s financial performance, risk management reports 
and approval of projects. 

The Board Audit Committee held three meetings during 
the year and deliberated on Internal and external Audit 
reports. 

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors reports to the Governing Council 
and is responsible for providing strategic direction and 
oversight. Comprised of representatives from the bank’s 
member states, including Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania, 
Rwanda, the Board ensures that the bank’s operations 
align with its development objectives. The Board oversees 
the bank’s financial performance, risk management, and 
adherence to regulatory requirements, while also guiding 
the formulation and implementation of key policies.

Governance Structure
EADB’s governance structure is designed to provide 
checks and balances, promote strategic decision-making, 
and safeguard the interests of its stakeholders. The bank is 
guided by a framework consisting of three key components: 
the Governing Council, the Board of Directors,  and the 
Management Team
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President, Structured 
Credit International Corp. 
(SCIC), New York

President, Institute for 
International Monetary 
Affairs, Japan and Senior 
Adviser, Bank of Tokyo, 
Mitsubishi Limited

Former Deputy 
Director General, 
Swedish International 
Development Agency 
(“SIDA”)

Former Executive Vice 
president and CEO 
of the International 
Finance Corporation 
(“IFC”)

Mr. Toyoo Gyohten Mr. Lars Ekengren Mr. Jannik LindbaekMr. Mahesh Kotecha, CFA

Advisory Panel 
The Advisory Panel plays a crucial role at the East African Development Bank (EADB) by providing expert advice, guidance, and 
insights to enhance the bank’s strategic decision-making. Comprised of respected professionals from various sectors, the panel 
contributes valuable perspectives that inform EADB’s initiatives and support its mission of promoting sustainable economic 
development in East Africa.

The Advisory Panel is comprised of eminent personalities with extensive experience in international and development financing 
and they advise the Bank on best practices and effective strategies to pursue. The current members of the advisory panel are: 

Hon. Matia Kasaija 
(Chairman)	
Minister of Finance, Planning 
and Economic Development, 
Republic of Uganda

Prof. Njuguna Ndung’u 
Cabinet Secretary, The 
National Treasury and 
Planning, Republic of Kenya

Hon. Dr. Mwigulu 
Nchemba	
Minister of Finance and 
Planning, United Republic 
of Tanzania

Dr. Uzziel Ndagijimana
Minister of Finance and 
Economic Planning, Republic 
of Rwanda

Governing Council 
The Governing Council is comprised of Ministers responsible for Finance in Member States and meets regularly to receive 
and consider reports from the Board of Directors. The following Governing Council Members served during the year: 
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Private Sector Representative, 
United Republic of Tanzania

Private Sector Representative, 
Republic of Rwanda

Principal Secretary,National 
Treasury, Republic of Kenya

Deputy Accountant General,
Ministry of Finance and 

Economic Planning,
Republic of Rwanda,

Permanent Secretary and Secretary 
to the Treasury, Ministry of 

Finance, Planning and Economic 
Development, Republic of Uganda

African Development Bank 
- Class B shareholders 

Representative

Private Sector Representative, 
Republic of Uganda

Private Sector Representative, 
Republic of Kenya

Permanent Secretary, Ministry 
of Finance and Planning, United 

Republic of Tanzania

Director General, East 
African Development Bank

Dr. Ramathan Ggoobi

Mrs Khadija I. Simba

Dr Abdu Mukhtar	

Mr Faustin Mbundu

Dr. Chris K. Kiptoo, CBS

Mr. Reuben KaremeraMr James Tumusiime

Board Of Directors 

The Board members who served during the year and to the date of this report were: 

Mr Francis N. Karuiru

Dr. Natu Mwamba 

Ms Vivienne Yeda 
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Stakeholder Engagement
EADB recognises the importance of engaging 
with its stakeholders, including member states, 
partner organisations, borrowers, and the public. 
The bank maintains transparent communication 
channels to disseminate relevant information, 
seek feedback, and address concerns. Regular 
consultations and dialogue with stakeholders 
help to align the bank’s strategies with regional 
development priorities and foster collaborative 
decision-making.

Policies and Procedures
EADB maintains a robust set of 
policies and procedures that govern 
its operations. These policies cover 
areas such as risk management, 
corporate governance, ethics, 
and social and environmental 
responsibility. By adhering to these 
policies, EADB ensures that its 
operations align with international 
best practices, promotes ethical 
conduct, and mitigates risks 
effectively.

Management Team 
EADB’s Management Team, led by the Director General (DG), 
is responsible for the day-to-day operations and execution of 
the bank’s strategies. The team works closely with the Board 
to implement approved policies and decisions effectively. The 

DG is accountable for ensuring the bank’s financial stability, 
managing risk, and driving the bank’s mission of promoting 
economic development in the region.
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Our Ethical Conduct & Accountabilities

Ethical conduct and accountability are fundamental principles that guide the operations and 
decision-making at the East African Development Bank (EADB). As a leading development 
finance institution, EADB recognises the importance of upholding high ethical standards 
and being accountable to its stakeholders. Here’s an overview of EADB’s approach to ethical 
conduct and accountability:

Integrity & Transparency
EADB places a strong emphasis on integrity and transparency 
in all its dealings. The bank maintains a culture of honesty, 
fairness, and ethical behaviour among its employees 
and stakeholders. It upholds the highest standards of 
professionalism and ensures that its operations are conducted 
with transparency, fostering trust and credibility.

Code of Ethics
EADB has a comprehensive Code of Ethics that outlines 
the expected behaviours and standards for its employees, 
directors, and stakeholders. The code covers various aspects, 
including conflict of interest, confidentiality, protection of 
assets, avoidance of bribery and corruption, and compliance 
with laws and regulations. Adherence to the code is crucial for 
maintaining the bank’s integrity and reputation.

Accountability & Governance
EADB is committed to being accountable to its stakeholders, 
including member states, partner organizations, borrowers, 
and the public. The bank maintains a robust governance 
structure that promotes accountability at all levels. The Board 
of Directors provides oversight and ensures that decisions 
are made in the best interests of stakeholders. Regular 
reporting, audits, and internal controls further strengthen the 
accountability framework.

Compliance & Regulatory Standards
EADB operates in accordance with applicable laws, 
regulations, and international best practices. The bank 
ensures compliance with relevant financial regulations, 
anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism financing 
measures, environmental and social standards, and other 
legal requirements. By complying with these standards, EADB 
safeguards its reputation and mitigates operational and 
financial risks.

Social & Environmental Responsibility
EADB is committed to sustainable development and incorporates 
social and environmental considerations into its operations. The 
bank strives to support projects and initiatives that have a positive 
impact on communities, promote environmental sustainability, and 
adhere to social safeguards. EADB assesses the potential social and 
environmental risks of its projects and seeks to mitigate these risks 
through responsible lending practices.

Whistleblowing & Reporting Mechanisms
EADB maintains channels for employees and stakeholders to 
report unethical behaviour or concerns. The bank encourages the 
reporting of any potential misconduct, fraud, or violations of its 
policies. Whistleblowing mechanisms protect the confidentiality and 
anonymity of individuals reporting such issues, ensuring that they 
can come forward without fear of reprisal.

Continuous Improvement
EADB is committed to continuous improvement in its ethical 
conduct and accountability practices. The bank regularly reviews 
and updates its policies, procedures, and internal controls to align 
with evolving best practices and regulatory requirements. It fosters 
a culture of learning, integrity, and responsibility, encouraging 
employees to uphold ethical standards and remain vigilant in their 
duties.
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Directors Report

1.	 Introduction

The Directors hereby submit their report together with the Bank’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2023, which disclose the state of affairs of East African Development Bank (“the Bank”).

2.	 Incorporation

The Bank was created under the Treaty for the East African Co-operation of 1967, which was subsequently amended and 
re-enacted as the Treaty and Charter of the East African Development Bank (‘’The Bank’s Charter’’) in 1980.

3.	 Mission and Vision

The Bank’s Vision is to be a partner of choice in promoting sustainable social-economic development.
The Bank’s Mission is to promote sustainable social economic development in East Africa by providing development finance, 
advisory and support services. 

4.	 Principal activity

The principal activity of the Bank is development finance lending under the Bank’s Charter. The Bank’s principal activity is 
achieved through following:

(a)	 Provision of financial assistance through loans to promote the development of Member States;

(b)	 Provision of consulting, promotion, agency and other similar services for the region;

(c)	 Promotion of economic development in the Member States, in such fields as industry, tourism, agriculture, 
telecommunications and other fields of development;

(d)	 Joint financing operations and technical assistance to national development agencies of the Member States and use 
of such agencies as channels for financing specific projects; and

(e)	 Co-operation with other institutions and organizations, public or private, national or international, which are interested 
in the development of the Member States.

5.	 Business Objectives and Strategies

The Bank supports economic development in Member States through medium and long-term lending of financially viable 
and socially sustainable projects. 

The Bank continued to operate on the basis of one year business plan in 2023 but at the same time a new 5 year strategic 
plan 2024-2028 was approved by the Board and will be operational starting 2024.

6.	 Governance

The Bank remains committed to principles of good governance contained in the Charter and endeavours to make continuous 
improvements in line with the best practices to remain relevant and effective.

Governance plays a key role in the management of the affairs of the Bank and in the overall execution of its mandate it has 
various structures and measures in place to promote and safeguard good governance.

The key elements of the governance structure comprise: the Governing Council which is the supreme organ of the Bank; the 
Board of Directors which reports to the Governing Council, and the Advisory Panel. 
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6.	 Governance (continued)

Further information about each of these organs of the Bank is provided below:

a)	 Governing Council

The Governing Council is comprised of Ministers responsible for Finance in Member States and meets regularly to receive 
and consider reports from the Board of Directors. The following Governing Council Members served during the year:

Name Details

1 Hon. Matia Kasaija (Chairman) Minister of Finance, Planning and Economic 
Development, Republic of Uganda

2 Hon. Dr. Mwigulu Nchemba Minister of Finance and Planning, United 
Republic of Tanzania

3 Prof. Njuguna Ndung’u Cabinet Secretary, The National Treasury and 
Planning, Republic of Kenya

4 Dr. Uzziel Ndagijimana Minister of Finance and Economic Planning, 
Republic of Rwanda

b) 	 Board of Directors and sub-committees

The Board of Directors is vested with all powers in the Bank and meets at least on quarterly basis to receive and consider 
reports from Management. The Board of Directors is comprised of Permanent Secretaries of the Ministries responsible for 
Finance in Member States, private sector representatives from Member States and the Director General. Non-Sovereign 
shareholders (class B shareholders) are represented to the Board by the African Development Bank.

The Board members who served during the year and to the date of this report were:

Name Details

1 Dr. Ramathan Ggoobi Permanent Secretary and Secretary to the Treasury, Ministry 
of Finance, Planning and Economic Development, Republic of 
Uganda

2 Dr. Chris Kiptoo Principal Secretary, the National Treasury, Republic of Kenya

3 Mr. Reuben Karemera
(From 15th May 2023)

Deputy Accountant General in charge of Treasury Management 
in the Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning, Republic of 
Rwanda

4 Emmanuel Tutuba 
(Up to 7th January 2023)

Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Finance and Planning, United 
Republic of Tanzania

5 Dr. Natu Mwamba
(From 7th January 2023)

Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Finance and Planning, United 
Republic of Tanzania

6 Dr Abdu Mukhtar African Development Bank - Class B shareholders 
Representative

7 Mr Francis N. Karuiru Private Sector Representative, Republic of Kenya

8 Mrs Khadija I. Simba Private Sector Representative, United Republic of Tanzania

9 Mr Faustin Mbundu Private Sector Representative, Republic of Rwanda

10 Mr James Tumusiime Private Sector Representative, Republic of Uganda

11 Ms Vivienne Yeda Director General, East African Development Bank
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6.	 Governance (continued)

b)	 Board of Directors and sub-committees (continued)

The Board has two committees namely the Board Human Resources Committee which is responsible for all staffing and 
related issues in the Bank and the Board Audit Committee which is responsible for all internal control issues. 

The Board of Directors met 5 times during the year to deliberate on various issues including the Bank’s financial performance, 
risk management reports and approval of projects while the Board Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year and 
deliberated on Internal and external Audit reports.

c)	 Advisory Panel

The Advisory Panel is comprised of eminent personalities with extensive experience in international and development 
financing and they advise the Bank on best practices and effective strategies to pursue. The current members of the 
Advisory Panel are: 

Members of the Advisory Panel

Name Details

1 Mr Mahesh Kotecha, CFA President, Structured Credit International Corp. (SCIC), New York 

2 Mr Toyoo Gyohten President, Institute for International Monetary Affairs, Japan and Senior Adviser, 
Bank of Tokyo, Mitsubishi Limited

3 Mr Lars Ekengren Former Deputy Director General, Swedish International Development Agency 
(“SIDA”)

4 Mr Jannik Lindbaek Former Executive Vice president and CEO of the International Finance 
Corporation (“IFC”)

	 Capital and Shareholding

The Bank’s authorised share capital is USD 2,160,000,000 comprising 160,000 shares with a par value of USD 13,500 each. 
The authorised shares are classified into Class A shares (144,000) which are available for subscription to only member 
states and in equal proportion and Class B (16,000) which are available for subscription to members other than Member 
States.

Class A shareholders do not have option to exit the Bank but the Charter provide basis on which class B shareholders may 
exit/sale their shares. During the year the Bank continued to buy FMO and DEG shares where 235 shares were bought from 
the two class B shareholders. The sale of FMO and DEG shares is part of their strategy which, among other things, provides 
that once the investee institution is on good footing they exit and promote other initiatives. 

The Bank’s paid up capital by Class A and Class B shareholders as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively, were as 
follows:

Name 2023 2022

Shares Value % Shares Value %

Class A USD’000 USD’000

Government of Kenya 3,800 51,300 24.46% 3,800 51,300 25.01%

Government of United Republic 
of Tanzania 3,800 51,300 24.46% 3,800 51,300 25.01%

Government of Uganda 3,800 51,300 24.46% 3,800 51,300 25.01%

Government of Rwanda 2,828 38,178 18.21% 2,253 30,416 14.83%

Total Class A 14,228 192,078 91.59% 13,653 184,316 89.86%
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7.	 Capital and Shareholding (continued)

Name 2023 2022

  Shares Value % Shares Value %

Class B USD’000 USD’000

African Development Bank 1,240 16,740 7.98% 1,240 16,740 8.17%

FMO – Netherlands Development Finance 
Company - - 0.00% 186 2,511 1.23%

DEG – Deutsche Investitions- und 
Entwicklungsgesellschaft - - 0.00% 49 662 0.32%

Yugoslavia Consortium 28 378 0.18% 28 378 0.18%

SBIC - Africa Holdings 24 324 0.16% 24 323 0.16%

NCBA Bank Kenya Ltd 5 67.5 0.032% 5 68 0.03%

Nordea Bank Sweden 5 67.5 0.032% 5 68 0.03%

Standard Chartered Bank London 2 27 0.013% 2 27 0.01%

Barclays Bank Plc., London 2 27 0.013% 2 27 0.01%

Total Class B 1,306 17,631 8.41% 1,541 20,804 10.14%

Total Class A & B 15,534 209,709 100% 15,194 205,120 100.00%

8.	 Financial Performance
Performance highlights

Performance indicator Formula 2023 2022

Profit for the year (USD ‘000’) NA 13,052 6,594 

Total assets (USD ‘000’) NA 454,382 415,535 

Equity NA 322,302 303,229 

Return on Assets (Profit/Total assets) *100% 2.87% 1.59%

Return on Equity (Profit/Total equity) *100% 4.05% 2.17%

Operating expenses to Operating 
Income

(Operating expense/Net interest income + non-interest 
income) *100 30.50% 40.67%

Non-Performing Loans ratio Non-performing (Stage 3) loans/Gross loans and 
advances) *100%

0.88% 3.86%

Total Capital ratio (Total capital/Risk weighted assets including Off 
balance sheet items) *100

124% 77%

Earnings per share (USD) Profit attributable to ordinary shares/ Weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year 

850 443

The Bank continued to record profitable results and growth in assets. 
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Credit rating

The Moody’s rating report released on 6th October 2023 re-affirmed the Bank’s Baa3 rating with stable outlook sighting 
strong capital position and robust liquidity levels. 

Similarly rating report by the GRC also released in August 2023 also maintained the Bank’s long-term issuer and short-term 
credit ratings of BBB- and A3 respectively with stable outlook. 

9.	 Cash flow and Liquidity Management

Liquidity management continued to be one of the top Bank priorities. Detailed liquidity risk management report is contained 
on Note 39(c) of the financial statements.

During the year the Bank maintained adequate liquidity with actual liquidity ratio at the end of 2023 at 7.93 times compared 
to 8.11 times in 2022 which was above the target ratio of 1.33 times.

The Bank’s cash and cash equivalents at the end of year amounted to USD 192.29 million and was above USD 162.89 million 
recorded in 2022 partly due to proceeds from borrowings. 

10.	 Market overview

The Global economy in 2023 was challenging as central banks rallied to tame the high inflation resulting in substantial 
increase in interest rates which on the other hand rendered double blow to countries which were already bearing a burden 
of high debts. In addition, ongoing conflicts, including Russia and Ukraine war, continued to disrupt global supply chain and 
impacted growth prospects. 

Despite these challenges there was a glimmer of hope as the global economy avoided recession that was widely expected 
at the beginning of the year.

Economies in all Bank’s member States are projected to record healthy growth in 2023 with Kenya and Tanzania expected to 
record higher growths in 2023 compared to 2022 based on the data from the International Monetary Fund’s World Outlook 
Report released in October 2023. Based on the same report, all the four member states are projected to register higher 
growth in 2024 compared to 2023. It is on the basis of these data that the Bank projects continued good performance as it 
supports both the public and private sector in the Member States’ economies to realize the expected growth. 

11.	 Future Plans

The Bank will continue to play a catalytic role in the development of the region.

The Bank will continue to engage both public and private sector in each Member State to broaden its outreach programs 
thereby supporting growth.

Good economic performance projected in the Member States will provide a good operating environment supportive of the 
Bank’s growth aspirations.

12.	 Risk and Risk Management

Despite reflecting high concentration risk in the current portfolio, the bank takes pride in the strength of capital at its disposal 
and deep liquidity funding options.

The Bank is embarking on reversing the trend caused by the concentration risk by not only diversifying the portfolio but 
equally focusing on booking quality loans to entrench the risk management strategy in place hence eliminating a possible 
deterioration in portfolio quality.
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Global financial crime watchdog, Financial Action Task Force (FATF) has retained several East African countries on the ‘grey’ 
list in its latest review of countries’ commitment to fighting money laundering, terrorist financing, and arms proliferation 
financing. The Bank continues its heightened vetting of counterparts and customers onboarded for compliance purposes 
to all regulations.

As the Bank re-embarks on growth, it will continue to embrace Environmental Social and Corporate Governance (ESG) in its 
onboarding framework to ensure the growth is aligned to applicable Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

13.	 Solvency

The Board of Directors confirm that the financial statements have been prepared based on International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) and that they have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Board confirm that 
the Bank has all necessary resources to continue operating on this basis for a foreseeable future.

14.	 Resources 

The Bank hold sufficient resources to advance its vision and mission.

Key among those resources is a dedicated and highly skilled human capital which has been the bedrock of the Bank’s 
performance. The Bank will continue to implement different strategies to improve its employee value proposition and make 
the Bank a dream employer to all professionals.

Equally important are committed shareholders who not only continued to provide required capital, but also remained 
engaged and provided guidance throughout the year. The Bank’s management and staff will continue to work tirelessly to 
deliver aspirations of the shareholders.

The Bank continued to earn trust of fund providers who provided needed funding as efforts continued to implement projects 
in Member States. The Bank’s strong liquidity position is a testament of dependability of the fund providers. The Bank will 
not only make sure that repayments of maturing obligations are made on timely basis, but also further improve the financial 
performance to safeguard sustainability.

15.	 Employee Welfare

Cordial and harmonious working relationship continued during the year and this facilitated achievements recorded. The 
Bank continued to implement various initiatives to improve staff welfare. 

The Bank operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme to which employees contribute 10% of their basic 
salary and the Bank contributes 10%, 12.5% or 15% of the employee’s basic salary depending on the length of service. 
The scheme is independently managed by a professional fund manager who provides periodic reports to a committee 
nominated by staff.

The Bank provides medical insurance cover for employees, their spouses and up to four qualifying dependants through a 
reputable medical insurance provider. Continuous monitoring on the services offered by the insurance cover is undertaken 
to guarantee quality service is provided to staff. More details on employee welfare are included in note 41 of the accounts.
Various training opportunities were provided to staff during the year in order to improve their performance. 

The Bank is an equal employer and staff are offered equal opportunities based on their merits and not based on gender, 
disability or any similar attributes in their jurisdictions/ countries of residence.

16.	 Related Party Transactions

The Bank’s related party transactions are concluded at arm’s length basis. Details of related party transactions at the end 
of the year are shown on Note 44.
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17.	 Environmental, Social and Governance

The Bank takes a comprehensive approach towards Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) considerations, 
acknowledging the importance of these parameters in influencing sustainable economic development. At EADB, ESG is an 
all-inclusive framework that enables our stakeholders to gauge the Bank’s risk management and opportunities, in relation 
to ESG criteria, affirming that sustainability transcends mere environmental concerns. As the region’s apex Development 
Financial Institution (DFI), our commitment to ESG principles is evident by our focus on a wide array of related frameworks 
and policy guidelines pertaining to sensitive sectors and activities. The policies and all the related frameworks are designed 
to ensure that EADB’s operations, positively impact the environment, the communities within its operations, and adhere to 
the highest standards of corporate governance.

Regarding the environment, the bank monitors and manages its environmental impacts and risk management practices. 
This encompasses both direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions, responsible stewardship of natural resources, and 
the Bank’s overall resilience against physical climate risks such as climate change, flooding, drought and fires. 

Social considerations are equally paramount in EADB’s ESG approach. We maintain proactive and considerate relationships 
with all stakeholders, as reflected in materiality analysis, which include policies and employee engagement initiatives. 
Additionally, we address the impact on the communities through various policies that extend to the clients and projects we 
finance, thereby ensuring that our social influence is both positive and far-reaching.

In terms of governance, we have a focus on robust leadership and effective management. Our priority is to ensure that 
leadership incentives are in harmony with our stakeholder expectations and rigorous internal controls, as outlined in the 
Charter and Fiduciary Policies, are in place. These measures promote transparency, accountability, and foster a governance 
culture that places a high premium on ethical conduct.

18.	 Stakeholders

The Bank values contribution and support of all its stakeholders and implement strategies to assess the stakeholder’s 
expectations and how they will be met. Cordial relationship continued with all stakeholders during the year. The Bank will 
continue to actively engage with its stakeholders with the view to improve the value creation process.

19.	 Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividends for the year 2023 (2022: Nil). This is in line with shareholders’ 
strategy to build up the capital of the Bank.

20.	 Events after reporting date 

There are no other events after the reporting period. 

21.	 Auditor 

The Bank’s external auditor, KPMG Certified Public Accountants, being eligible for reappointment has expressed willingness 
to continue in office. The Bank’s 2024 external auditors shall be appointed by the Governing Council in accordance with 
Article 26 (d) of the Bank’s Charter. 

By order of the Board

----------------------------					     ---------------------------
Chairman – Board of Directors                                  Director

4 June 2024					     4 June 2024-			 
Date		                                                            Date                                                                       
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The Bank’s directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view of East African 
Development Bank comprising the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial 
statements, including material accounting policies, in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards), and in the manner required by the Treaty and Charter of East African 
Development Bank (“the Bank’s Charter”).

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management. 

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Bank to continue as going concern and have no reason to believe that 
the business will not be a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
IFRS Accounting Standards, and in the manner required by the Treaty and Charter of East African Development Bank (“the Bank’s 
Charter”).

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements of East African Development Bank, as identified in the first paragraph, were approved and authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2024 and the Governing Council on 29 April 2024 and were signed on their behalf by:

Chairman – Board of Directors Director General

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE EAST AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the members of the East African Development Bank 

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of East African Development Bank (the Bank), as set out on pages 57 to 133 which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 
December 2023, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards) and in the manner required 
by the Treaty and Charter of East African Development Bank (“the Bank’s Charter”).

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA code) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Uganda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers

Refer to Notes 2l(a)(ii),15, 38 and 39(b) of the financial statements

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 
Expected credit losses (ECL) on 
loans and advances to customers is 
considered a Key Audit Matter because 
the directors make complex and 
significant judgments over both timing 
of recognition of impairment and the 
estimation of the amount of any such 
impairment. The loans and advances are 
material to the Bank as they represent 
25% of its total assets.

The key areas where we identified 
greater levels of management judgement 
and therefore increased levels of audit 
focus in the Bank’s determination of 
expected credit losses (ECL) are:

Model estimations

Inherently, judgmental modelling is 
used to estimate ECLs which involves 
determining Probabilities of Default 
(‘PD’), Loss Given Default (‘LGD’), 
and Exposures at Default (‘EAD’) and 
ultimately the Expected Credit Loss 
(ECL).

Economic scenarios

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments requires 
the Bank to measure Expected Credit 
Loss (ECL) on a forward-looking basis 
reflecting a range of future economic 
conditions. Significant management 
judgement is applied to determining the 
economic scenarios used such as the 
expected trend of the gross domestic 
product, growth of credit to the private 
sector and expected trend of consumer 
price index and the probability weightings 
applied to them and the associated 
impact on ECL.

Significant Increase in Credit Risk 
(‘SICR’)

The criteria selected to identify a 
significant increase in credit risk and 
applying the appropriate staging is a 
key area of judgement within the Bank’s 
ECL calculation as these criteria include 
application of quantitative factors such 
as days past due and qualitative factors 
such as financial performance, and 
internal and external market factors 
which determine whether a 12- month or 
lifetime expected credit loss is assessed.

Our audit procedures in this area included:
	• Obtaining an understanding of the credit management processes and performing end to end 

process assessments to identify the controls used in the determination of ECL. This includes 
assessing the design and implementation and operating effectiveness of the management 
review controls in the ECL process.

	• Selecting a sample of facilities from the Bank’s loan book and evaluated whether loan 
facilities sampled are correctly staged/classified by comparing the credit risk information for 
each facility against the bank’s staging criteria for each stage.

	• Evaluating the appropriateness of the SICR criteria used by assessing the qualitative factors 
such as the borrower’s financial performance by reviewing latest financial reports submitted 
to the bank and correspondences between the borrower and the bank and quantitative 
factors such as days past due used in the staging process by checking the repayment history 
and the last repayment date.

	• Obtaining a sample and evaluating key inputs and assumptions impacting ECL calculations 
to assess the reasonableness of economic forecasts.

	• Involving our FRM specialists to assess the;

	Key economic variables such as inflation, exchange rates, lending rates, total external 
debt stock per capita that are used to develop the forward-looking inputs; 

	Loss given default by testing the accuracy of collateral values attached to the facilities 
sampled and agreeing the Forced Sale Values to valuation reports prepared by 
independent valuation experts as well as obtaining their time to realization; 

	Exposure at default by assuming contractual rundown of the facilities in line with the 
respective contractual terms and performing a recomputation based on the outstanding 
loan balance and accrued interest and 

	PD assumptions applied by obtaining historical registers of loans at quarterly snapshots 
covering twenty quarters which were agreed to the respective Management Accounts and 
subsequently used a script to perform a re-computation and compared the results with 
the final audited ECL results. ECL is calculated as a probability weighted average of the 
ECL under three economic scenarios, base, best and worst scenarios which were tested 
by our FRM team for reasonableness.

	• Involving our Financial Risk Management (FRM) specialists in the review of the ECL 
methodology including PD, LGD, EAD modelling, and the ECL computation with respect to 
theoretical foundation, input data and mathematical accuracy.

	• Involving our FRM specialists to assess the key economic variables used to develop the 
forward-looking inputs such as exchange rates, lending rates, consumer price index inflation, 
Total external debt stock per capita as well as the overall reasonableness of the economic 
forecasts used by

	Inspecting of the Forward-Looking Information model data inputs for completeness and 
accuracy by comparing with externally published data as well as output for bias

	Testing the model’s mathematical soundness by reperformance of PD and LGD 
calculations and recalculating the ECL on a sample of loans.

	Challenging key assumptions made by the bank in determining forward looking 
information by involving our internal financial modeling specialist to assess the 
completeness of the macro-economic variables considered, the relationship and 
correlation between the bank’s probability of default parameters and the macro-economic 
variables, reasonableness of the overlays made to macro-economic variables to model 
the economic scenarios and probability weightings made to economic scenarios.

	• Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in financial statements, especially whether the 
disclosures appropriately disclose the key assumptions and judgements used in determining 
the expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
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Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the East 
African Development Bank Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report and the Integrated 
Annual Report 2023, which is expected to be made available to us after that date. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards and in the manner required by the Bank’s Charter and for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.
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•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is CPA Stephen Ineget – P0401.
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 for the year ended 31 December 2023
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Notes 2023 2022

USD’000 USD’000 

Interest income 3 25,623 19,407

Interest expense 4 (6,305) (4,108)

Net interest income  19,318 15,299 

Fee and commission income 5 152 240 

Other operating income 6  2,050 676 

Other losses 7 (844) (1,375)

Net fair value (losses)/gains on investment property 21 (292) 148 

Net operating income     20,384 14,988 

Net impairment losses on financial assets 15(b) (1,114) (2,298)

Operating income after impairment charges 19,270 12,690

Employee benefits expense 8     (3,119) (3,260)

Depreciation and amortization 22 23, 24        (689) (774)

Other operating expenses 9        (2,410)        (2,062) 

Profit before income tax 10     13,052 6,594 

Income tax expense 11 - - 

Profit for the year     13,052 6,594 

Other comprehensive income 36       1,224 -

Total comprehensive income     14,276 6,594 

Earnings per share – basic (Expressed in USD per share) 12          850 443

The notes set out on pages 67 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 for the year ended 31 December 2023
Statement of Financial Position

Notes 2023 2022

USD’000 USD’000 

Assets

Cash at bank 13 60,473 22,041 

Placements with commercial banks 14 241,980 235,373 

Loans and advances to customers 15 114,506 126,163 

Assets available for sale 18 3,370 -

Equity investments at fair value through profit and loss 19 649 718 

Other assets 20 1,816 427 

Intangible assets 23 - - 

Property and equipment 22 8,646 11,842 

Right of use assets 24 311 198 

Investment property 21 22,631 18,773 

Total assets 454,382 415,535 

Liabilities

Other liabilities 25 4,427 3,678 

Derivative financial instruments 17 6 - 

Borrowings 26 112,837 94,962 

Lease liabilities 27 306 316 

Special funds 28 3,990 3,990 

Grants 29 3,035 1,881 

Capital fund 31 7,479 7,479 

Total liabilities 132,080 112,306 

Capital and reserves

Share capital 30 209,710 205,120 

Share premium 30 7,024 6,530 

Funds waiting allotment 32 71 69 

Special reserve 33 12,906 12,785 

Fair value reserve 34 - - 

Revaluation reserves 36 10,456 9,273

Retained earnings 37 82,135 69,452

Total shareholders’ equity 322,302 303,229 

Total equity and liabilities 454,382 415,535 

The financial statements set out on pages 62 to 133 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2024 
and the Governing Council on  29 April 2024 and were signed on their behalf by:
	

Chairman – Board of Directors Director General
The notes set out on pages 67 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
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Statement of Changes in Equity
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Statement of Cash Flow

 Notes 2023 2022

USD’000 USD’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest receipts  26,238 18,658 

Interest payments 26  (4,670) (1,937)

Interest paid on lease liabilities (37) (26)

Net fee and commission receipts  300 328 

Other income received  2,008 479 

Payments to employees and suppliers (5,824) (5,286)

 

Cash inflows from operating activities 18,015 12,216

Principal loan receipts 29,242 35,772 

New loan disbursements (26,443) (5,995)

Net other receipts from customers  1,193 149 

Settlement of other liabilities  (317) (4,093)

  

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 21,690 38,049 

Investing activities

Purchase of Investment property 21 (142) -

Purchase of property and equipment 22 (193) (58)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1 -

Placements with commercial banks (15,854) (15,634)

  

Net cash used in investing activities (16,188) (15,692)

Financing activities

Settlement of medium- and long-term borrowings 26 (16,745) (9,508)

Proceeds from borrowings 26 37,371 20,357 

Payment of principal portion of the lease liability 27 (79) (84)

Receipt from member states towards share capital 32 8,258 15,011 

Share repurchase 30 (3,462) (2,308)

Net cash generated from financing activities 25,343 23,468 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 30,845 45,825

Cash and cash equivalent at start of year 35 162,888 118,560 

Effect of exchange rates on cash held (1,446) (1,497)

At end of year 35 192,287 162,888

The notes set out on pages 67 to 133 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.	 Reporting entity

East African Development Bank (“the Bank”) was created under the Treaty for the East African Co-operation of 1967, which 
was subsequently amended and re-enacted as the Treaty and Charter of the East African Development Bank (‘’The Charter’’) 
in 1980 with its current membership comprising the four East African Countries of Uganda, Kenya, Tanzania and Rwanda with 
its head office in Kampala, Uganda.  The Bank is primarily involved in development finance lending and the provision of related 
services as stipulated under its Charter.

The Bank’s principal office address is: 
Plot 4 Nile Avenue, EADB Building
P. O. Box 7128, Kampala, Uganda

For purposes of the Bank’s Charter, the profit and loss account is represented by the statement of comprehensive income and 
the balance sheet is represented by the statement of financial position in these financial statements.

2.	 Material accounting policies

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all years unless otherwise stated.

A.	 Basis of preparation

The Bank’s financial statements are prepared in compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards) and in the manner required by the Treaty and Charter of East African 
Development Bank (“the Bank’s Charter”). Additional information required by the Bank’s Charter is included within the financial 
statements where appropriate.  The financial statements are presented in the functional currency, United States Dollars (‘‘USD’’), 
rounded to the nearest thousand (“000”), and prepared on the historical cost basis, except where otherwise stated in the 
accounting policies below.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires the Directors to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting 
policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period the assumptions 
are changed. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 38.

B.	 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(i)	 New and amended standards adopted by the Bank

The following new or revised standards, amendments and interpretations are effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 
and have been applied in preparing these financial statements where applicable.

Standards available for early adoption   Effective date

Definition of Accounting Estimate (Amendments to IAS 8) 01 January 2023

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction – Amendments to 
IAS 12 Income Taxes

01 January 2023

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 01 January 2023

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 01 January 2023

International Tax Reforms - Pillar Two Model Rules – Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes 23 May 2023

The amendments did not have significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
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2. 	 Principal accounting policies (continued)
B.	 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)
(ii)    	 New Ammended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)

The following new IFRS Accounting Standards together with their Interpretations had been published at the date of preparation 
of the accompanying Financial Statements but are not mandatory as of December 31, 2022. Although in some cases the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) allows early adoption before their effective date, the Bank has not proceeded 
with this option for any such new standards.

(ii)	New Ammended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Standards available for early adoption Effective date

Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16) 01 January 2024

Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7) 01 January 2024

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1) 01 January 2024

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 01 January 2024

IFRS S1** General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial 
Information and IFRS S2** Climate-related Disclosures

01 January 2024

Lack of Exchangeability – Amendments to IAS 21 01 January 2025

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 01 January 2027

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture – Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Available for optional adoption/ 
effective date deferred 
indefinitely. Early adoption 
continues to be permitted

 The amendments are not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank. 

C.	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the Bank’s financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Bank operates (‘the functional currency’). These financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USD), 
which is the Bank’s functional currency. Except as indicated, the financial information has been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand.

Assets and liabilities expressed in various currencies are translated into US Dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the statement 
of financial position date. Transactions during the year are converted at exchange rates ruling at the transaction date. The 
resulting differences from the conversion and translation of all transactions and balances are dealt with in the statement of profit 
or loss in the period in which they arise.

D.	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (CODM). The CODM, which is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 
has been identified as the Bank’s Board of Directors.

E.	 Revenue recognition

(i)	 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within ‘interest income’ or ‘interest 
expense’ respectively in the statement of profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2. Principal accounting policies (continued)
	 E. Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Interest income and expense (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, 
a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.

The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or 
liability.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest 
income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss.

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss includes interest on financial assets and liabilities at 
amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis.

(i)	 Fees and commission income

Fees and commission income that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the 
measurement of effective interest rate ad are recognised over time as the related services are performed.

Other fees and commission income including account servicing fees are recognized at a point in time as the contractual service 
is performed per requirement of IRFS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers.

(ii)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive dividends is established.

F.	 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, 
and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that 
is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Freehold land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses 
recognised at the date of revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient frequency to ensure that the fair value of a 
revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2 	 Principal accounting policies (continued)
F.  	 Property and equipment (continued)

	 Revaluation surplus 

In accordance with IAS 16, the nature of revaluation surplus results from valuation of assets with significant changes in fair value. 
The fair value of land and buildings is usually determined from market-based evidence by appraisal that is done by professionally 
qualified valuers after every three to five years.

Changes in fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under revaluation surplus.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in equity. 
However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, the increase 
is recognised in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing 
surplus on the same asset recognised in the asset revaluation reserve. 

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made for the difference between depreciation 
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.

Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the 
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings. 

Management and Directors review the residual value and useful life of an asset at the year end and any change considered to be 
appropriate in accounting estimate is recorded through the statement of comprehensive income.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the property and equipment on a straight-line basis over the expected useful 
lives of the assets concerned. The rates for depreciation used are as follows:

Buildings 5%

Motor vehicles 25%

Office equipment 10% - 25%

Furniture 12.5%

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are taken into 
account in determining the result for the year.

G.	 Intangible assets

Computer software costs which are clearly identifiable and controlled by the Bank and have probable benefits exceeding the costs 
beyond one year are recognised as an intangible asset. Intangible assets are stated at cost net of accumulated amortization and 
impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure on software is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in specific 
assets to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortization is recognized in statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of software from 
the date that it is available for users. The estimated useful life of the software is four years.

H.	 Capital work-in-progress

Assets in the course of construction (capital work-in-progress) are not depreciated. Upon completion of the project the 
accumulated cost is transferred to an appropriate asset category where it is depreciated according to the policy.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2.  Principal accounting policies (continued)

I.	 Financial assets and liabilities

Measurement methods

Amortized cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the 
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e., its amortised cost before any 
impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses 
and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to the effective 
interest rate, such as origination fees. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the 
case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. 

Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or 
loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognized for financial assets measured at 
amortized cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an accounting loss being recognized 
in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the Bank recognises 
the difference as follows:

	When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) 
or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or 
loss.

	 In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined 
individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined 
using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

The Bank applies IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

	 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or 
	 Amortized cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as loans, 
government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse.
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

(i)	 The Bank’s business model for managing the asset; and
(ii)	 The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(a)		 Financial Assets

(i)		 Classification and subsequent measurement 

Debt instruments

Based on these factors, the Bank classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

	 Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortized cost. The 
carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognized. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included  in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective interest rate method.

	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash 
flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that 
are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI), except for the recognition of impairment gains or 
losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortized cost which are recognized 
in profit or loss. 

When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss and recognized in ‘Net Investment income’. Interest income from these financial assets is included 
in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.

	 Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss 
and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognized in profit or loss and presented in the profit or loss statement within 
‘Net trading income’ in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were designated at fair value 
or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented separately in ‘Net investment income’. Interest income 
from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Business model: 
The business model reflects how the Bank manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the Bank’s 
objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows 
and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading 
purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL.

Factors considered by the Bank in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how the cash 
flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, 
how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated. 

An example is the liquidity portfolio of assets, which is held by the Bank as part of liquidity management and is generally classified 
within the hold to collect and sell business model. 

Securities held for trading are held principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of financial 
instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. 
These securities are classified in the ‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL.

2 	 Principal accounting policies (continued)
I. 	 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
	 Measurement methods (continued)
	 Amortized cost and effective interest rate (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements 



73

Promoting Sustainable Growth and Prosperity

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell, 
the Bank assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI 
test’). In making this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a 
profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or 
volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely 
payment of principal and interest.

The Bank reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. The 
reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such changes are expected to be 
very infrequent, and none occurred during the period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that do 
not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity 
instruments include basic ordinary shares. The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit 
or loss, except where the Bank management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at 
fair value through other comprehensive income. 

The Bank’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than 
to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognized in OCI and are not 
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not 
reported separately from other changes in fair value. 

Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the 
Bank’s right to receive payments is established. Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in the other losses 
line in the statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) 	Impairment

The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instrument assets carried at 
amortized cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Bank 
recognizes a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of expected credit loss (ECL) reflects:

	 An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
	 The time value of money; and
	 Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past 

events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR)

At each reporting date, the Bank performs both qualitative and quantitative assessments whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the remaining 
expected life from the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. 

2. Principal accounting policies (continued)
I.  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(a) Financial Assets (continued)
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Business model (continued)
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2.  		 Principal accounting policies (continued)
I.	 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
	 (a) 	 Financial Assets (continued)
	 (ii) 	 Impairment (continued)

The assessment considers borrower-specific quantitative and qualitative information without consideration of collateral, and 
the impact of forward-looking macroeconomic factors.

	 The common assessments for SICR are largely determined by the macroeconomic outlook, management judgement, 
and delinquency and monitoring. 

	 Quantitative models may not always be able to capture all reasonable and supportable information that may indicate a 
significant increase in credit risk. Qualitative factors may be assessed to supplement the gap. Examples of situations 
include a significant departure from the primary source of repayment, changes in adjudication criteria for a particular 
group of borrowers; changes in portfolio composition; and legislative changes impacting certain portfolios. 

(iii)	Modification of loans

As a long-term lender, it is not unusual for the Bank to renegotiate or otherwise modify the contractual cash flows of loans to 
customers. When this happens, the Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. 
The Bank does this by considering, among others, the following factors:

	 If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts 
the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

	 Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially affects 
the risk profile of the loan.

	 Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

	 Significant change in the interest rate.

	 Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

	 Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the 
loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognizes the original financial asset and recognizes a ‘new’ asset at fair 
value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the 
date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Bank also assesses whether the new financial asset recognized is deemed 
to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being 
unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognized in profit or loss as a gain 
or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the Bank 
recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognizes a modification 
gain or loss in profit or loss. 

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are de-recognized when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets 
have expired, or when the Bank assesses that the possibility for such cash flow is remote especially when a loan remains in non-
performing category for long period without being turned around successfully.

In most cases the Bank continues to follow up for repayments and when cashflows can be ascertained with reasonable degree 
of certainty then recognition of the expected cashflow is included in the financial statements. In other cases, recognition is made 
when actual collection happens.
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2. Principal accounting policies (continued)
I) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(b)		 Financial liabilities

i)		  Classification and subsequent measurement 

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except loan 
commitments.

ii)	 Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Bank and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as 
substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original 
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present 
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original 
effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original 
financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes 
in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into 
consideration. 

iii)	Modification of loans 

If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred 
are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an 
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term 
of the modified liability.

J.	 Derivative instruments

The Bank uses derivative instruments in its portfolios for asset/liability management, and risk management. These instruments 
are mainly cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps. The derivatives are used to manage exposure to currency risk which 
arises when the Bank issues loans in the local currencies of member states out of predominantly USD denominated borrowings. 
The interest component of the derivatives is reported as part of interest income and expense.

The Bank classifies all derivatives as held-for-trading and these are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other non-financial host contracts are treated as separate derivatives 
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at 
fair value with unrealised gains or losses reported in profit or loss. Where material, such derivatives are separated from the host 
contract and measured at fair value with unrealised gains and losses reported in profit or loss.

K.	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If such a condition exists, the assets’ recoverable amount is estimated, and an impairment loss 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the recoverable 
amount.
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2.  		 Principal accounting policies (continued)

L.	 Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Bank in the statement of financial position.

M.	 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 

i.	 Bank acting as a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price. However, for leases of branches and office 
premises the Bank has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for the lease and non-lease components 
as a single lease component. The Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove any improvements made to branches or office premises. The right-of-use asset is subsequently 
depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-
use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Bank’s incremental 
borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The Bank determines its incremental 
borrowing rate by analyzing its borrowings from various external sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of 
the lease and type of asset leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: – fixed payments, including in-
substance fixed payments; – variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date; – amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and – the exercise 
price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if 
the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Bank is 
reasonably certain not to terminate early. 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a change 
in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Bank’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. When the lease liability is 
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Bank has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term 
leases, including leases of IT equipment. The Bank recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2. 	 Principal accounting policies (continued)
M. Leases  (continued)

ii.	 Bank acting as a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices. When the Bank acts as a lessor, it 
determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. To classify each lease, the Bank makes 
an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. 

As part of this assessment, the Bank considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic 
life of the asset.

The Bank applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The Bank further 
regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

N.	 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position where there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Bank intends to either settle on a net basis or realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis when permitted by the accounting 
standard or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions. During the year there was no offsetting transaction 
(2022: Nil).

O.	 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where the Bank expects a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain.

i)	 Retirement obligations

The Bank operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme to which employees contribute 10% of their basic salary 
and the Bank contributes 10%, 12.5% or 15% of the employees’ basic salary depending on his/her length of service.  The Bank 
complies with Member States regulations with respect to social security contributions where applicable. A defined contribution 
plan is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Bank has no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and prior periods.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount 
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of 
service and compensation. The Bank’s contributions to the scheme are charged to the statement of profit or loss in the year in 
which they are made. Costs relating to early retirement are charged to the statement of profit or loss in the year in which they 
are incurred.

ii) 	Service gratuity

The Director General is entitled to contract gratuity equivalent to 20% of the annual gross salary. Gratuity is accounted for on an 
accruals basis. An accrual for the amount payable is made each year and is charged to the statement of profit or loss.
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2. 	 Principal accounting policies (continued)

O.	 Provisions

iii)	 Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued annual leave entitlement at the reporting date is recognised as an 
expense accrual.

P.	 Investment properties

Properties held for long-term rental yields that are not occupied by the Bank are classified as investment properties. 

Certain properties of the Bank consist of a portion that is held for rental and a portion used for administrative purposes or 
occupied by Bank staff. In respect to such properties, portions that are held for rental yields or capital appreciation and can be 
leased or sold separately have been accounted for as investment property.

The properties held purely for rental yields have been classified under investment property. The Investment properties are 
recognised at fair value. When the use of property changes from owner occupied to investment property, the property is re-
measured at fair value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on revaluation is recognized through other 
comprehensive income. Any loss arising on revaluation is recognized through the surplus or deficit.

Q.	 Grants

Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all attaching 
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, (revenue grant) it is recognised as income over 
periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.  Where the grant 
relates to an asset, (capital grant) it is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a systematic basis over the 
expected useful life of the relevant asset.

R.	 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash with Banks held as demand and 
time deposits with original maturities of less than 90 days.

S.	 Contingent liabilities – Financial guarantees and loan commitments

Letters of credit acceptances and guarantees are accounted for as Off-Balance Sheet items and described as contingent 
liabilities. Financial guarantee contracts require the issuer to make pre-agreed payments to reimburse the holder for loss incurred 
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial 
guarantees are given to Banks, financial institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other 
Banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of: 

	 The amount of loss allowance; and
	 The premium received on initial recognitions less income recognized in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15. 

Loan commitments provided by the Bank are measured as the amount of the loss allowance assuming the customer draws on 
the loan. However, the drawdown from the loans commitments is subject to fulfilments of conditions agreed in the loan contract 
and therefore the provision takes into account such conditions. 
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2. 	 Principal accounting policies (continued)

T.	 Taxation

In accordance with Article 49 of the Bank’s Charter, the Bank, its property, other assets, income and its operations and transactions 
are exempt from all taxation and custom duties within member countries.

U.	 Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are declared. Proposed dividends are shown as a 
separate component of equity until declared.

Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year. The 
classifications have had an impact on the respective comparative balances in the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of financial position and the statement of cashflows respectively.

V.	 Share capital

Class A and Class B Ordinary shares are classified as ‘share capital’ in equity. Any premium received over and above the par value 
of the shares is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

Class A shareholders do not have option to exit the Bank, but the Charter provide basis on which class B shareholders may exit/
sale their shares. The sale of Class B shares is represented by the share repurchase.

Notes to the Financial Statements



80

East African Development Bank Integrated Annual Report 2023

3.	 Interest income

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Interest income on loans to projects 11,729 12,146

Interest income on lease receivables 21 31 

Interest income on deposits with other Banks 13,873 7,230 

25,623 19,407
All interest income is calculated using the effective interest income method

4.	 Interest expense

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Interest expense on borrowings 4,874 3,925
Interest expense on lines of credit 1,431 183 

6,305 4,108 
All interest expense is calculated using the effective interest income method

5.	 Fee and commission income

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Management Fees 126 197

Other fees and commission income 26 43

152 240 

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 
with a customer. The Bank recognises revenue when it transfers control over a service to a customer. 

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in 
contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies.

Type of service Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including significant payment terms

Revenue recognition under IFRS 15

Management fees Management fees comprises fees paid by 
customers to cater for monitoring costs incurred 
by the bank in relation to their accounts. These 
fees are paid as a percentage of the amount 
outstanding on the loan.

Management fees is recognised over time as 
the bank monitors the loan.

Other fees and 
commission income

Other Fees and Commission Income is 
comprised of income earned in the form 
of restructuring fees, early loan repayment 
penalties, and others

Other fees and Commission income is 
recognised when the contractual terms are 
triggered for example when a customer’s loan 
is restructured or prepaid.
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6.	 Other operating income

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Rental income 498 441 
Dividend income 15 -
Recovery of previously written off loans 1,387 38 
Grant income (Note 29) - 16 
Profit on Sale of Fixed Assets 1 -
Write back of other liabilities 149 181 

2,050 676 
7.	 Other losses

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000
Net foreign exchange losses (838) (1,497)
Net fair value losses on equity investments at fair value (Notes 17 and 19) - (33)
Net fair value (gain)/loss on derivative instruments (Note 17) (6) 155

(844) (1,375)
8.	 Employee benefits expense

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Salaries and wages 2,038 2,335 
Pension and gratuity (Note 41) 310 324 
Other staff costs 771 601 

3,119 3,260 
9.	 Other operating expenses 

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Staff duty travel 176 87 
Directors’ expenses 119 67 
Insurance 263 264 
Advertising and publicity 159 207 
Legal fees 487 338 
Computer software expenses 138 140 
Internal audit costs 29 24 
Statutory audit fees 64 51 
Consultancy fees 299 138 
Utilities 65 56 
Communication costs 99 103 
Establishments expenses 358 337 
Subscription to professional bodies 18 45 
Provision on equity investments - 90
Other administrative expenses 136   115 

       2,410        2,062 
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10.	 Profit before income tax

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Profit before income tax     13,052 6,594 

Profit before income tax is stated after charging the following expenses by their nature:

Directors’ emoluments:

- Fees and allowances 38 54

- Other Board expenses 49 13

Depreciation on property and equipment (note 22) 605 651 

Depreciation of right-of-use asset (note 24) 84 118 

Amortization of intangible assets (note 23) - 5 

Impairment losses charged on financial assets (note 15b) 1,114 2,298

Employee benefits expense (Note 8) 3,119 3,260

Auditor’s remuneration 64 51 

Operating expenses (note 9) 2,410 2,062

11.	 Taxation

In accordance with Article 49 of the Bank’s Charter, the Bank, its property, other assets, income and its operations and 
transactions are exempt from all taxation and custom duties within Member States.

11.	 Earnings per share – basic and diluted

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the number of 
shares not yet issued but for which payments have been received by the Bank.

2023 2022

USD USD

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 13,052,000 6,594,000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue and paid up during the year 15,348 14,878

Basic earnings per share 850 443

Diluted Earnings per share

Dilutive number of ordinary shares 5 5

Total issued and dilutive shares 15,353 14,883

Diluted earnings per share 850 443

Dilutive shares represent the number of shares generated from the balance of funds awaiting allotment (Note 32).
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13.	 Cash at bank

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Cash at bank 60,473 22,041

14	 Placements with commercial banks

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Placements with other banks 

Principal
64,136 164,826

Interest receivable 549 951

Placements with other banks

Principal 176,053 68,900

Interest receivable 1,242 696

241,980 235,373

The above amount is analyzed as follows:

Amounts due within 3 months of date of acquisition 131,813 140,847

Amounts due after 3 months of date of acquisition 110,167 94,526

241,980 235,373

The weighted average effective interest rate on deposits due from banks was 5.41% (2022: 3.52%).

15.	 Loans and advances to customers

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Loans to projects (Gross)

Principal 114,977 132,465 

Interest receivable 1,955 2,714 

Deferred fee income from disbursed loans (508) (463)

Gross loans 116,424 134,716 

Gross loans and leases receivable comprise the following:

Loans to projects 116,189 134,372

Finance lease receivables 235 344 

Total gross loans and receivables 116,424 134,716

Impairment losses on loans and advances (Note 15a) (1,918) (8,553)

Net carrying amounts 114,506 126,163 
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 15  	 Loans and advances to customers (continued)

a)  The table below is an analysis of the movement in the provision for impairment of loans and advances.

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Loss allowance at end of year 1,918 8,553 

Less: provisions at start of the year as above (8,553) (6,712)

Increase in provision for expected credit losses (6,635) 1,841

Direct write-offs 7,663 414

Total charge for the year 1,028 2,255 

Distribution of loans and receivables by sector

Agro, marine and food processing 12% 10%

Construction companies, building materials and real estate 4% 8%

Financial Institutions 20% 24%

Education, health and other community services 7% 13%

Transport and storage 53% 38%

Electricity and water 3% 6%

Hotels, tourism, leisure and entertainment 1% 1%

100% 100%

The prior year comparative balance for deferred income relating to loan arrangement fees on running loans has been 
reclassified from other liabilities to loans and advances to customers in order to align to the requirement to measure financial 
assets at amortised cost using the effective interest rate in line with IFRS 9. 

b) Expected credit losses on financial assets

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Impairment losses charged to profit or loss

Impairment on loans and advances to customers (Note 15 a) 1,028 2,255 

Impairment on other financial assets (Note 20) 86 43

1,114 2,298
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16.	 Segment information 

Management has determined the operating segments based on information reviewed by the Board of Directors for the 
purpose of allocating resources and assessing performance. The Board of Directors considers the business from both a 
geographic and product perspective. Geographically, the Board considers the performance in Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania and 
Rwanda. The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from lending to foster development through 
various products such as project loans, leases and equity. The Board assesses the performance of the operating segments 
based on a measure of gross loans and advances to customers, portfolio quality, approvals, disbursements and profit. The 
measure excludes the effects of unrealised gains or losses on financial instruments. Interest expenditure is allocated to 
segments based on agreed formular reflecting total funds deployed. The segment information provided to the Board of 
Directors for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023

Loan exposure by country Gross Balances  % Net Balances  % 
USD’000 USD’000

Country
Uganda 33,037 28% 32,360 28%
Kenya 7,158 6% 7,011 6%
Tanzania 72,839 63% 71,751 63%
Rwanda 3,390 3% 3,384 3%
Total 116,424 100% 114,506 100%

Exposure by product

Long term loans 106,132 91% 104,239 91%
Medium term loans 5,125 4% 5,104 4%
Short term loans 5,167 4% 5,163 5%
Total 116,424 100% 114,506 100%

Year ended 31 December 2022

Loan exposure by country Gross Balances  % Net Balances  % 
USD’000 USD’000

Country
Uganda 33,746 25% 32,962 26%
Kenya 26,497 20% 19,813 16%
Tanzania 68,915 51% 67,847 54%
Rwanda 5,558 4% 5,541 4%
Total 134,716 100% 126,163 100%

Exposure by product

Long term loans 127,890 95% 121,800 97%
Medium term loans 6,715 5% 4,266 3%
Short term loans 110 - 97 0%
Total 134,715 100% 126,163 100%

Notes to the Financial Statements
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16.	 Segment information (continued)
	 Year ended 31 December 2023

Country Performing portfolio  %  Non performing 
portfolio  %  Totals 

Portfolio quality (Gross) USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Uganda 32,011 27.5%            1,026 0.9% 33,037
Kenya 7,158 6.1% - - 7,158
Tanzania 72,839 62.6% - - 72,839
Rwanda 3,390 2.9% - - 3,390
Totals 115,398 99.1% 1,026 0.9% 116,424

Portfolio quality (Net)
Country 
Uganda 31,518 27.5% 842 0.7% 32,360
Kenya 7,011 6.1% - - 7,011
Tanzania 71,751 62.7% - - 71,751
Rwanda 3,384 3.0% - - 3,384
Totals 113,664 99.3% 842 0.7% 114,506

Year ended 31 December 2022

Country Performing portfolio % Non-performing
portfolio % Total

Portfolio quality (Gross) USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Uganda 33,746 25.0% - - 33,746
Kenya 21,294 15.8% 5,203 3.9% 26,497
Tanzania 68,915 51.2% - - 68,915
Rwanda 5,558 4.1% - - 5,558
Totals 129,513 96.1% 5,203 3.9% 134,716

Portfolio quality (Net)
Country 
Uganda 32,962 26.1% - - 32,962
Kenya 17,042 13.5% 2,771 2.2% 19,813
Tanzania 67,847 53.8% - - 67,847
Rwanda 5,541 4.4% - - 5,541
Totals 123,392 97.8% 2,771 2.2% 126,163

Approvals and disbursements

Approvals Disbursements
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

By country 2023 2022 2023 2022
Uganda      9,291 7,860 5,648 5,437
Kenya 7,556 - - 558
Tanzania       20,000 - 20,000 -
Rwanda 3,178 557 795 -

40,025 8,417 26,443 5,995
By product
Loans 40,025 8,417 26,443 5,995
Leases - - - -

40,025 8,417 26,443 5,995

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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17.	 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value in response to changes in interest rates, financial instrument 
prices, commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, credit risk and indices. The table below analyses the notional principal 
amounts and the positive (assets) and negative (liabilities) fair values of the Bank’s derivative financial instruments. Notional 
principal amounts are the amount of principal underlying the contract at the reporting date. The fair values of derivative 
financial assets and financial liabilities (currency swap) at 31 December 2023 were as follows:

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000 

Notional principal amounts 2,000 - 
Fair value Assets 2,000 - 
Fair value Liabilities 2,006 - 

The table below shows the movement in fair value of financial assets during the year and fair value included in the profit or 
loss.

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Derivative asset/(Liability) at the start of the year - (141)
Fair value loss during the year - (14)
Fair value gain/(loss) realized during the year (6) 155 

(6) -
18 	 Assets available for sale

During the year the Bank de-recognized two loans, having made full provision. The loans were secured by landed properties 
which are now available for sale. These include apartment blocks and land in different locations. Valuation of the assets 
available for sale was independently done by professional valuers. It has been estimated that the sale process will take 
approximately one year and therefore the estimated sale values have been discounted to the present values at the time of 
reporting. The Bank is reasonably certain that the sale will take place within the estimated period.

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Assets available for sale 3,370 - 

3,370 -
19	 Equity investments at fair value through profit and loss

The Bank advances financing in the form of equity in exceptional cases where the project is assessed to have a significant 
impact on the community and its development as well as where the equity participation is necessary for improving the 
capital structure of the company or where the sponsors are unable to raise additional equity to enable the borrower operate 
on a commercially sound footing. Usually these are companies, which have substantial development impact but whose 
cash flows cannot support continuous repayments for long term loans. These investments are reported at their fair values 
in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policies. 

The movement in equity investments during the year was as follows:

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

At start of year 718 848 
Less:  
Provisions - (90)
Foreign exchange loss (69) (21)
Fair value loss - (19)
At end of year 649 718 
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20	 Other assets

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Prepayments 92 129 
Value Added Tax receivable 435 421 
Fees and commission receivable 19 18 
Tenants rent receivable 71 56 
Front End Fees 830 203
Settlement Account 699 19
Other receivables 243 185 

2,389 1,031 
IFRS 9 impairment provision (573) (604)

1,816 427 

Other receivables includes staff debtors, interbranch transfers, settlement account for money markets, and salary 
advances.
The movement in the IFRS 9 impairment provision for other assets is included below;

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

At start of year 604 604 
Provisions for the year 86 43
Net foreign exchange movement (117) (43)
At end of year 573 604 

The foreign exchange movements result from the impact of revaluation as the provisions are maintained in the currencies 
of the respective receivables.

21. 	 Investment property

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

At start of year 18,773 18,625 
Additions 142 -
Transfers from property and equipment (Note 22) 4,008 -
Net fair value (losses)/gains (292) 148 
At end of year 22,631 18,773 

An independent valuation of the Bank’s land and buildings was performed by professional valuers Knight Frank Limited for 
locations in Uganda and Kenya and Africa Property Limited for locations in Tanzania, to determine the fair value of the land 
and buildings as at 31 December 2023 based on estimated open market values. Properties that are held by the Bank for 
generation of rental income have been classified under investment property. Land and buildings to the extent occupied by 
the Bank for administrative use are classified under property, plant and equipment (Note 22). During the year, properties with 
fair value of USD 4.008 million were transferred from property and equipment in line with their usage. The table below shows 
revenue, costs and capital commitments related to investment property:

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Rental income from investment property 498 441 
Direct operating expenses: Rented properties 19 20
Direct operating expenses: Unrented properties 13 11
Approved capital commitment 1,300 500

The Bank signs annual lease agreements with its tenants. All future undiscounted lease payments amounting to USD 
487,864 are due within 1 year.
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21. Investment property (continued)

The following table analyses the non-financial assets carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have 
been defined as follows:    

–	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1). 
–	 Inputs for the year ended 31 December 2023 other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).
–	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

	 Fair value measurements

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment properties. Involvement of external 
valuers is determined annually by the Management team after discussion with and approval by the Board of Directors. 
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.
Investment properties were measured based on Fair value of the properties as was determined using the market approach 
valuation method. The valuations have been performed by an independent expert based on a collation and analysis of 
appropriate comparable transactions, together with evidence of demand within the vicinity of the subject property. With the 
benefit of such transactions, they applied these to the property, taking into account size, location, aspect and other material 
factors. 

As at the dates of fair valuation on 31 December 2023, the properties’ fair values are based on valuations performed by 
Knight Frank Uganda Limited and Africa Property Limited, registered independent valuers who have valuation experience for 
similar office properties in Uganda, Kenya and Tanzania. A net loss from the fair valuation of the investment properties of 
USD 292,566 in 2023 was recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value measurements for all of the investment properties have been categorized as Level 2 fair value measurements.

Market approach valuation method

The following are the two market approach valuation methods used in measuring the fair values of the investment properties 
as well as the significant inputs used;

(i) 	Comparative method

In undertaking the valuation of the property, the valuers made their assessment on the basis of a collation and analysis of 
appropriate comparable transactions, together with evidence of demand within the vicinity of the subject property. With the 
benefit of such transactions, they then applied these to the property, taking into account size, location, aspect and other 
material factors.

(i) 	Depreciation replacement cost

The valuation was undertaken using the Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) method. The DRC method is based on an 
estimate of the Market Value for the existing use of the land, plus the current gross replacement (reproduction) costs of the 
improvements, less allowances for physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation. The DRC 
method is used for certain types of properties which are rarely, if ever, sold in the open market, except by way of a sale of the 
business of which they are a part (called the business in occupation), due to their uniqueness arising from the specialised 
nature and design of the buildings, their configuration, size, location or otherwise.

Fair Value was used as a basis of value in the valuation in line with IFRS Accounting Standards and the RICS Valuation 
Practice Guidance Application (VPGA 1), which give guidance on valuations for inclusion in financial statements. Both RICS 
Professional Valuation Standards and International Valuation Standards (IVS) indicate that the definition of Fair Value in 
IFRS is consistent with Market Value.
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21. 	 Investment property (continued)

Market approach valuation method (continued)

Land and buildings are usually traded in the market as a single unit -the land supports the buildings, and the buildings 
cannot be used independently of the land. Therefore, the valuation process did not differentiate between the two elements. 
Nevertheless, the IFRS Accounting Standards treats land and buildings as ‘separable’ which leads to a requirement for 
separate valuations of the two elements hence the apportionment when ascertaining Fair Values for financial reporting. 
However, it should be noted that whilst the split was possible as a hypothetical exercise, it was emphasized that the resultant 
figures were informal apportionments and that the individual figures did not themselves represent the Fair Value of the 
elements involved, since the true valuation could only be the figure taken as a whole.

Fair value measurements

Fair value measurements as per valuation reports

2023 2022

USD’000 USD ‘000

Land 16,779 13,923

Buildings 5,852 4,850

Total 22,631 18,773

The fair value movement for the above is included below

2023 2022

USD’000 USD’000

Land

At start of year 13,923 13,839 

Valuation gain/(loss) (137) 84

Transfers from Property and equipment 2,993 -

At end of year 16,779 13,923 

Buildings

At start of year 4,850 4,785

Additions 142 -

Valuation gain/(loss) (155) 65

Transfers from Property and equipment 1,015 -

At end of year 5,852 4,850
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22. 	 Property and Equipment (continued)

The fair value measurement for all land and buildings have been categorized as Level 2 fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of the Bank’s land and buildings was performed by professional valuers Knight Frank Limited for 
locations in Uganda and Kenya and Africa Property Limited for locations in Tanzania, to determine the fair value of the land 
and buildings as at 31 December 2023 based on estimated open market values. Land and buildings to the extent occupied 
by the Bank for administrative use are classified under property and equipment while the rest are classified under Investment 
Property (Note 21). The details of the fair valuation methods used are disclosed in note 21. During the year, properties with 
fair value of USD 4.008 million were transferred from property and equipment to investment property in line with their usage. 

If the land and building were carried at cost, the carrying amount is summarised below.

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Cost 4,615 4,615
Accumulated depreciation (2,157) (1,938)
Carrying amount 2,458 2,677

23.	 Intangible assets

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Cost
At start of year 1,965 1,965 
Additions during the year - -

1,965 1,965 
Amortization
At start of year (1,965) (1,960)
Amortization charge for the year - (5)

(1,965) (1,965)
At end of year - - 

24.	 Right-of-use assets

In respect of the change in accounting policy to IFRS 16 – Leases, the carrying amount of prepaid operating lease rentals at 
1 January 2019 were reclassified as right-of-use assets specifically in respect to the Bank’s rented office premises in Kenya 
and Rwanda. The average lease term is 2 years and 3 years, respectively. During the year, the Bank made adjustments after 
re-calculating the amounts based on the new leases and interest rates.

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Cost at start of year 677 677
Additions 11 -
Lease remeasurement (change in payment terms) 87 -
Correction of prior year error (370) -
Adjusted cost at end of year 405 677
Accumulated depreciation
At the start of year (479) (361)
Depreciation charge for the year (84) (118)
Correction of prior error 469
Accumulated depreciation at end of year (94) (479)
Net carrying amount at end of year 311 198 
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25.	 Other liabilities

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Advances from customers 156 204
Rent received in advance               42 33
Accrued expenses             911 616
Deferred fee income 298 204
Deposits from tenants 114 115
KFW line of credit 1,661 148
KFW Managed Fund-Annual Interest 961 859
Other creditors 284 1,499

4,427 3,678

The prior year comparative balance for deferred income relating to loan arrangement fees on running loans has been 
reclassified from other liabilities to loans and advances to customers in order to align to the requirement to measure financial 
assets at amortised cost using the effective interest rate in line with IFRS 9. 

26.	 Borrowings

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Lines of credit with multi-lateral development banks 101,198 86,780
Lines of credit with other financial Institutions 11,639 8,182

112,837 94,962
Maturity analysis of borrowings
Amounts payable within one year 15,544 37,540
Amounts payable after one year but within five years 87,526 38,791
Amounts payable after five years 41,464 36,100

144,534 112,431

Borrowings movement analysis
At start of year 94,962 84,631 
Proceeds from borrowings 37,371 20,357 
Interest incurred during the year 6,305 4,023 
Principal payments within the year (16,745) (9,508)
Interest payments within the year (4,670) (1,937)
Foreign exchange differences (4,386) (2,604)
At end of year 112,837 94,962 

The weighted average effective interest rate on borrowings was 7.00% (2022: 5.21%). The Bank has not given any security 
for the borrowings and has not defaulted on any of them. More information regarding the currency, maturity and contractual 
repricing rates for the Bank’s borrowings are shown in Note 39. In the table below is a list of all lenders as well as the tenor, 
interest rates, currency and outstanding balances of the facilities the Bank held with each lender as at 31 December 2023 
and 31 December 2022. 

The KFW lines of credit relate to an agricultural financing programme and a financing program to improve access to 
sustainable and demand-driven financial services for the population and Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs) 
in rural areas under the German Financial Cooperation in Kenya and Uganda meant for on-lending to selected Partnering 
Financial Institutions (PFIs) in local currency short term, medium and long-term facilities. 
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26. 	 Borrowings (continued)

Lender Tenor Rate 
Type

Interest
Rate % CCY 2023 

USD’000
2022 

USD’000
Nordic Development Fund 30 Fixed 0.75 EUR 3,328 3,498
European Investment Bank 7 Fixed 9.16 KES - -
Republic of Uganda-KFW 10 Fixed 6 UGX 5,230 5,295
Republic of Uganda-KFW 7 Fixed 6 UGX - 1,511
European Investment Bank 6 Fixed 9.31 UGX - -
European Investment Bank 7 Fixed 9.41 KES - -
European Investment Bank 7 Fixed 9.39 KES - -
European Investment Bank 7 Fixed 8.26 RWF - -
Republic of Uganda-KFW 7 Fixed 6 UGX          1,159 1,497
Republic of Uganda-KFW 4 Fixed 6 UGX               -   440
European Investment Bank 7 Fixed 9.84 KES            -   184
Republic of Uganda-KFW 7 Fixed 6 UGX          1,053 4,916
Republic of Uganda-KFW 8 Fixed 6 UGX - 1,637
Republic of Uganda-KFW 8 Fixed 6 UGX 12,902 1,098
Republic of Uganda-KFW 3 Fixed 6 UGX 1,617 1,174
Republic of Uganda-KFW 3 Fixed 6 UGX 1,084 1,169
European Investment Bank 7 2.46 USD - -
Opec Fund for International Develop-
ment 7 3.27 USD -

-
European Investment Bank 6 2.43 USD - -
African Development Bank 10 Libor_6m 3.77 USD - 11,250
Arab Bank for Economic Develop-
ment 10 SOFR_6M 3.99 USD 3,425 5,139

KFW-Agricultural Financing Kenya 13 Fixed 5 KES 757 960
KFW-Agricultural Financing Kenya 13 Fixed 5 KES 2,200 2,790
KFW-Agricultural Financing Kenya 12 Fixed 5 KES 1,519 1,927
Republic of Uganda-KFW 6 Fixed 7 UGX          1,155 938
Republic of Uganda-KFW 6 Fixed 7 UGX            926 268
Republic of Uganda-KFW 6 Fixed 6 UGX            409 1,066
Opec Fund for International Develop-
ment 7 SWAP5YRS 3.16 USD 18,182 20,000

KFW-Agricultural Financing Kenya 11 Fixed 5 KES 1,224 1,553
NCBA BANK 3 Fixed 16.5* KES 5,048 8,105
NCBA BANK 5 Fixed 16.5* KES 6,390
Arab Bank for Economic Develop-
ment 8 Fixed 4.75 USD 20,000 10,000

Development Bank of Southern Africa 6 Fixed 8.73 USD 5,000 -

Development Bank of Southern Africa 6 Fixed 8.02 USD 15,000 -

Total Borrowings 107,608 86,415
Interest payable 5,229 8,547

112,837 94,962

* Borrowing from NCBA was initially priced at NCBA’s KES base rate plus a margin but later agreed to fix at 16.5%.
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27.	 Lease liabilities 

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Current 102 16 
Non-current 204 300 

306 316

Below is an analysis of the movements in lease liabilities:
At start of year 316 388 
Additions 11 -
Payments of principal portion of lease liability (79) (84)
Payments of interest portion of lease liability (37) (26)
Interest charge for the year (recognized in profit or loss) 33 38 
Lease remeasurement 87 -
Net foreign exchange difference (25) -
At end of year 306 316 

During the year the Bank recalculated is lease liability and updated its discount rate based and new leasing terms. The 
incremental borrowing rate applied was 16.5% and 8.37% for leases denominated in Kenya Shillings and United States 
Dollars respectively.

At 31 December 2023, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were payable as follows:

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Below 6 months             78           69 
6 - 12 months             63           69 
1 - 5 Years            362           233 
Over 5 Years - -

503 371
Amounts recognised in the profit or loss

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Interest on lease liabilities 33 38
Depreciation on right of use asset 84 118

Amounts recognised in the statement of cashflows

            2023 2022             

 USD’000  USD’000 

Payment of principal portion of the lease liability 79 84

Interest paid on lease liabilities 37 26

116 110

Notes to the Financial Statements
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28.	 Special funds

2023 2022

USD’000 USD’000

At start and end of year 3,990 3,990

This relates to the Norwegian/ EADB fund which was created out of a 1986/7 grant of NOK 30 million by the Norwegian 
Government to the Government of Uganda to provide loans for the rehabilitation of Ugandan industries. Under the grant 
agreement, the Bank was allowed to use a portion of interest paid on those loans to cover administrative expenses. Any 
balance of interest on loans and other interest earned on funds made available under the agreement was to accrue to a 
special fund to be managed by the Bank. The special fund was to be used for certain expenditure including; a) payments 
to consultants and experts, b) strengthening the Bank’s administrative capacity, c) technical assistance, d) loans on 
concessionary terms, e) or any other purpose agreed by the government of Norway and the Bank. The agreement is silent on 
the use of principal repayments. Consultations are underway with the Norwegian Government to determine the utilisation/ 
disposition of the remaining balance. The principal repayments that were repaid from the loans disbursed under the fund 
created a liability since EADB is eventually expected to repay the amount unless agreed otherwise.

29.	 Grants

SWISS/ EADB 

fund for technical

 assistance

Housing Finance Bank 
feasibility study grant

Share 

repurchase 
grant

Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Year ended 31 December 2023

At start of year - 150 1,731 1,881 
Additions - - 1,154 1,154
At end of year - 150 2,885 3,035 

Year ended 31 December 2022

At start of year 16 150 1,731 1,897 
Grant utilisation (16) - - (16)
At end of year - 150 1,731 1,881 

Share repurchase grant

The share re-purchase grant was created during the year ended 31 December 2021 out of the discount offered by FMO and 
DEG from the real value of shares at the time of their exit. The difference between the market value and agreed settlement 
value is used to create grants which will be used to either support new Class A shareholder or create an SME fund as may 
be approved by the Governing Council. As per provisions of the share sale/purchase agreement an additional grant of USD 
1.15 million was received during the year by waiver of last instalment after the Bank fulfilled all conditions set in the share 
sale/purchase agreement.

SWISS/ EADB Fund

The SWISS fund for technical assistance was established following a grant from the Swiss Government. The funds were to 
be utilized for EADB’s institution building support, staff training, corporate strategy and restructuring study. The Bank began 
utilizing this grant for capacity building through offering scholarships and training for selected East African lawyers through 
the extractive industries seminars and medical training. The grant was fully utilized in 2022 so there was no transaction 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: USD 16,000).
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29. 	 Grants (continued)

Housing Finance Feasibility study grant
The grant represents funds received from the Government of Tanzania to fund the Housing Finance Bank feasibility study.

30.	 Share capital

 Paid up 
share capital 

Callable 
share capital  Total  

 Paid up 
share capital 

 Callable 
share capital  Total  

 Number Number Number  USD’000  USD’000  USD’000 

(1) Authorised share capital

Class A

At 1 January 2022 24,000 120,000 144,000 324,000 1,620,000 1,944,000

At 31 December 2022 24,000 120,000 144,000 324,000 1,620,000 1,944,000

At 31 December 2023 24,000 120,000 144,000 324,000 1,620,000 1,944,000

Class B

At 1 January 2022 4,000 12,000 16,000 54,000 162,000 216,000

At 31 December 2022 4,000 12,000 16,000 54,000 162,000 216,000

At 31 December 2023 4,000 12,000 16,000 54,000 162,000 216,000

Totals Authorised (Class 
A&B) As at December 
2022 &2023

28,000 132,000 160,000 378,000 1,782,000 2,160,000

(2) Issued share capital

Class A

At 1 January 2022 12,737 63,685 76,422 171,950 859,749 1,031,699

Issue of shares 916 4,580 5,496 12,366 61,830 74,196

At 31 December 2022 13,653 68,265 81,918 184,316 921,579 1,105,895

Issue of shares 575 2,875 3,450 7,763 38,813 46,576

At 31 December 2023 14,228 71,140 85,368 192,079 960,392 1,152,471

 

Class B

At 1 January 2022 1,701 1,037 2,738 22,964 14,000 36,964

Issue of shares - - - - - -

Share repurchase at par (160) - (160) (2,160) - (2,160)

At 31 December 2022 1,541 1,037 2,578 20,804 14,000 34,804

Issue of shares - - - - - -

Share repurchase at par (235) - (235) (3,173) - (3,173)

At 31 December 2023 1,306 1,037 2,343 17,631 14,000 31,631

Total (CL A&B)  2023 15,534 72,177 87,711 209,710 974,392 1,184,102

Total (CL A&B) 2022 15,194 69,302 84,496 205,120 935,579 1,140,699
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30. 	 Share capital (continued)

(3) Paid up capital Class A Class B Total Class A Class B Total
Number Number Number USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

At 1 January 2022 12,737 1,701 14,438 171,950 22,964 194,914
Issue of shares 916 - 916 12,366 - 12,366
Share repurchase - (160) (160) - (2,160) (2,160)
At 31 December 2022 13,653 1,541 15,194 184,316 20,804 205,120
Issue of shares 575 - 575 7,763 - 7,763
Share repurchase - (235) (235) - (3,173) (3,173)
At 31 December 2023 14,228 1,306 15,534 192,079 17,631 209,710

Name 2023 2022
Shares Value % Shares Value %

Class A USD’000 USD’000
Government of Kenya 3,800 51,300 24.46% 3,800 51,300 25.01%
Government of United Re-
public of Tanzania 3,800 51,300 24.46% 3,800 51,300 25.01%

Government of Uganda 3,800 51,300 24.46% 3,800 51,300 25.01%
Government of Rwanda 2,828 38,178 18.21% 2,253 30,416 14.83%

Total Class A 14,228 192,078 91.59% 13,653 184,316 89.86%

Class B
African Development Bank 1,240 16,740 7.98% 1,240 16,740 8.17%
FMO – Netherlands Develop-
ment Finance Company - - - 186 2,511 1.22%

DEG – Deutsche Investi-
tions- und Entwicklungs-
gesellschaft

- - - 49 662 0.33%

Yugoslavia Consortium 28 378 0.18% 28 378 0.18%
SBIC - Africa Holdings 24 324 0.16% 24 324 0.16%
NCBA Bank Kenya Ltd 5 67.5 0.032% 5 67.5 0.03%
Nordea Bank Sweden 5 67.5 0.032% 5 67.5 0.03%
Standard Chartered Bank 
London 2 27 0.013% 2 27 0.01%

Barclays Bank Plc., London 2 27 0.013% 2 27 0.01%

Total Class B 1,306 17,631 8.41% 1,541 20,804 10.14%

Total Class A & B 15,534 209,709 100% 15,194 205,120 100%

Authorised share capital

In 2015 the authorised capital stock was increased from USD 1,080,000,000 to USD 2,160,000,000 consisting of 80,000 
additional shares being 100% increase in capital stock of the Bank with a par value of USD 13,500 each. This was to enable 
admission of new members into the Bank. In addition, a resolution was passed in 2013 approving African Development 
Bank (AfDB), a class B shareholder, to subscribe for a further 740 class B paid up shares and 1,037 class B callable shares 
at USD 13,500 each.
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30. 	 Share capital (continued)

Class A

The authorised number of Class A ordinary shares is 144,000, (2022: 144,000) at a par value of USD 13,500 each. Class A 
ordinary shares are available for subscription to only member states and in equal proportion. 

Class B

The authorised number of Class B ordinary shares is 16,000 (2022: 16,000) at a par value of USD 13,500 each. Class B 
ordinary shares are available for subscription to members other than member states. All issued Class B shares are fully 
paid up. 

Share premium

Share premium arose on the shares issued to the Republic of Rwanda on admission at a value of USD 17,913 per share 
above par value of USD 13,500 per share translating into a premium of USD 4,413 per share. Additional shares issued and 
paid for by the Republic of Rwanda on the admission program in 2023 was 112 shares translating to a premium of USD 
0.494 million compared to 602 additional shares in 2022 translating to a premium of USD 2.656 million. The cumulative 
number of shares issued and paid for by the Republic of Rwanda on the admission program is 1,592 which is equivalent to 
a premium of USD 7.02 million (2022: 1,480 shares equivalent to a premium of USD 6.53 million). 

Callable capital

The capital stock of paid-in and callable Class A shares shall be available for subscription by member states in such 
proportion that, for every six shares subscribed, one share shall be fully paid-in with the remaining being callable. The Bank’s 
Charter provides that the Bank may make calls on its callable share capital in the event that it is unable to repay borrowings 
and any other eligible payments due out of pre-existing resources. In March 2012, the Bank’s Charter was amended to allow 
class B shareholders to subscribe to callable capital of the Bank. In 2013, the Governing Council passed a special waiver 
on article 4(2)b of the Bank’s Charter which sets out that for every four shares subscribed every one share is fully paid in. 
Following the waiver, 1,037 class B callable shares were allotted to African Development Bank.

Dividends

In accordance with the Bank’s Charter, Class B shareholders have priority in respect of distributions to members over Class 
A shareholders. Dividends are payable to shareholders based on the number of shares held by each member. The Bank has, 
however, not declared dividend (2022: NIL).

Share repurchase

Class A shareholders do not have option to exit the Bank but the Charter provide basis on which class B shareholders may 
exit/sale their shares. During the year the Bank continued buying shares from two class B shareholders (FMO & DEG) where 
235 shares were bought (2022: 160 shares) at cost of USD 3,461,282 (2022: USD 2,307,518) including the final instalment 
offered as grant. This sale of FMO and DEG shares reduced the Class B paid up share capital to USD 17,631,000 from USD 
20,803,500 in 2022.

2023 2022

Number of shares 235 160 

Value of shares USD’000 USD’000

Amount paid for shares 3,462 2,308 

Par value of shares paid for (at 13,500 per share) 3,173 2,160

Premium on par value 289 148 
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31.	 Capital fund

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

At start and end of year 7,479 7,479

This represents the balance of funds received from the Norwegian Government, in 1982 and 1987 for the Norwegian/ EADB 
fund on a grant basis. The Bank awaits feedback from the Norwegian Government on the disposition of the outstanding 
amount and therefore remains a liability to fund loans until a decision is made otherwise.  

32.	 Funds awaiting allotment

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

At start of year 69 80 
Cash received towards share capital 8,259 15,011 
Share allotment within the year (8,257) (15,022)
At end of year 71 69 

33	 Special reserve

2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

At start of year 12,785 12,683
Transfer of appraisal fees 121            102 
At end of year 12,906 12,785

The transfer to the special reserve is made in accordance with Article 17 of the Bank’s Charter, the reserve being credited 
with commissions earned during the year. The special reserve is non distributable and serves the purpose of enabling the 
Bank meet its liabilities on borrowings or guarantees chargeable.

34.	 Fair value reserve

The reserve represents an appropriation of unrealised fair value differences which are shown separately from retained 
earnings until realised. The movement in fair value reserve is shown below:

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

At start of year - 263 
Transfer in retained earnings - (263)
At end of year - - 

35	 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Cash and bank balances (Note 13) 60,473 22,041
Balances due from banks originally maturing within 90 days 131,814 140,847

192,287 162,888
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36.	 Revaluation reserve

The revaluation surplus arose from the revaluation of land and buildings performed and is non distributable.

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

At start of year 9,273 9,314 
Revaluation gain during the year 1,224 -
Transfer of excess depreciation to retained earnings (41) (41)
At end of year 10,456 9,273

         
The transfer of excess depreciation relates to the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount 
of the asset and depreciation based on the original cost.

37.	 Retained earnings

Retained earnings comprises of brought forward accumulated earnings plus year end profits.

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

At start of year 69,452 62,804 
Profit for the year 13,052 6,594
Transfers (369) 54
At end of year 82,135 69,452

38	 Use of estimates and judgments

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

This note provides an overview of the areas that involve a higher degree of judgement and major sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year.

Measurement of expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortized cost and FVOCI is an 
area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit 
behaviour of the customers which are used to derive the inputs of expected credit loss (ECL), namely probability of default, 
exposure at default (ED) and loss given default (LGD).

A number of judgements and assumptions are required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL such as:
–	 Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk (SICR);
–	 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for measuring the ECL; and 
–	 Determining the economic scenarios to be used.
–	 Assessing the appropriateness of management overlays where applicable 

Determining fair values 

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires the 
use of valuation techniques.

For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires 
varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and 
other risks affecting the specific instrument.
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38. 	 Use of estimates and judgments (continued)

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements:

Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.
Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). 
Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. 

39.	 Financial risk management

(a)	 Introduction and overview

The Bank continues to be exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

	 Credit risk;
	 Liquidity risk; and
	 Market risk

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing such risks and the Bank’s management of its capital.

Risk management framework

The Bank recognizes that development financing is a combination of servicing clients and managing resultant risks. The 
Bank assumes various kinds of risks in the process of providing financial products and services in the Member States.

The Bank’s enterprise risk management (ERM) defines the bank-wide risk objectives, philosophy, approach, appetite/
tolerance and control environment framework and includes both the broader risk areas and emerging risks. The Bank has a 
Board approved ERM policy which defines its risk management framework and it requires that all Bank employees assume 
a culture of recognizing an in-depth understanding of various risks that have bearing on the operations of the Bank and 
specific risks associated with each line of business.

The Objectives of the Bank’s ERM policy are:

i)	 To establish management structure that adequately identifies, measures, monitors and controls inherent and emerging 
risks in the Bank’s various products, operations and lines of business.

ii)	 To recognize the importance of sound risk management and the need for prudent risk taking.
iii)	 To communicate Board’s risk appetite.
iv)	 To establish minimum risk management guidelines for the entire spectrum of risk taking in the Bank.
v)	 To establish scope of responsibilities

Risk Management at EADB starts from the top and is fully integrated into existing management process with structures 
established to ensure that each business area, management and staff have a clear understanding of risks inherent in their 
business area and that adequate systems and controls are in place to manage the risks.

The Board of directors have the overall responsibility of risk management and it delegated operational implementation to 
Management, but it sets the risk appetite statement, supporting policies and monitors their implementation. The Board 
retains responsibility for financial results of the Bank and for ensuring that required corporate governance structures, 
culture, practices and systems of internal control are in place and serving the purpose.

Management team is charged with day to day oversight of the risk management process, implementation and integrity of 
the risk management system. This is achieved through various committees including the Assets and Liabilities Management 
Committee (ALCO) and the Project Committee (PROCO). 
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39.  Financial risk management (continued)
Introduction and overview (continued)

Risk management framework (continued)

Operational oversight, monitoring and policy control functions are delegated to the Risk and Compliance department.

The risk-taking departments are supposed to understand the inherent risks in their areas and manage them at that point 
while the internal audit department provides independent review of the Bank’s risk management framework.

(b)	Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and advances to customers, other Banks and 
investment securities.  For risk management reporting purposes, the Bank considers all elements of credit risk exposure 
such as individual obligor default risk and sector risk.

In the normal course of its business, the Bank is exposed to credit risk from loans and advances to customers and short term 
investments counterparties.  The counterparties’ credit risk exposure is managed through constant monitoring of the status 
of financial institutions where deposits are maintained. As a policy, the Bank places its deposits with strong commercial 
banks and internationally rated financial institutions. Credit risk is also minimized by the Bank’s policy of diversification.

The Bank has investment policies and guidelines for the type of financial products and services and to manage exposure to 
individual projects and industries.

Management of credit risk

Management’s Projects Committee is responsible for oversight of the Bank’s credit risk, including, formulating credit policies, 
covering collateral requirements and credit assessments, risk grading and reporting.

It is also responsible for documentary, legal procedures and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements 
undertaken in consultation with the Bank’s legal Department, establishing the authorization structure for the approval 
and renewal of credit facilities with concurrence of the Board of Directors; reviewing and assessing credit risk.  The Bank 
assesses all credit exposures, prior to facilities being committed to customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject 
to the same review process, limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, products and industries (for loans and 
advances). New loan project requests are subject to Bank’s risk grading in order to ensure that only viable projects are 
approved.

The Bank has a Portfolio team which is responsible for monitoring the credit quality of loans and ensuring appropriate 
corrective action is timely taken. The credit administration also provides advice, guidance and specialist skills to Operations 
Department to promote best practice in the management of credit risk. The Portfolio team prepares regular reports for 
Management and the Board’s consideration on the performance of the loan portfolio.

The Operations Department is required to implement the Bank’s credit policies and procedures and ensure that credit 
approval authorities are observed. The Operations Department is responsible for the quality and performance of its credit 
portfolio and for monitoring and controlling all credit risks in its portfolio, including those subject to Board approval. The 
Regular audits of the Operations Department and the Bank’s credit processes are undertaken by Internal Audit.
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39.	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 (b) Credit risk  (continued)
	 Management of credit risk (continued)

Loans and advances (including loan commitments and guarantees)

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, as the exposure 
varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of 
a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and 
of default correlations between counterparties. The Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure 
at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is the same approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected 
Credit Loss.

Credit risk grading

The Bank uses internal credit risk grading that reflect its assessment of the probability of default of individual counterparties. 
The Bank uses internal rating models tailored to the various categories of counterparty. Borrower and loan specific 
information collected at the time of application (such as sector and business risk, management/directors quality, financial 
resources, and level of collateral is fed into this rating model. This is supplemented with external data such as credit bureau 
scoring information on individual borrowers.

Expected credit loss measurement.

IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as 
summarised below:

	 A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk 
continuously monitored by the Bank.

	 If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to 
‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. 

	 If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. The bank considers 
financial assets to be credit impaired when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full without 
recourse to recovery actions such as realising security or when the borrower has a risk classification of F or G.

	 Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit 
losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL 
measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

	 IFRS 9 framework requires that forward looking information be considered in measuring ECL. 

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit impaired on initial 
recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

The 3 stages are as detailed below:

Stage 1: includes financial instruments that have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month expected credit losses (‘ECL’) are recognised. 
12-month ECL are the expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the 
reporting date.

Stage 2: includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that do 
not have objective evidence of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised and interest revenue is calculated 
on the net carrying amount (that is, net of credit allowance). Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Stage 3: includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets, lifetime 
ECL are recognised and interest revenue is calculated on the net carrying amount.
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Change in credit quality since initial recognition

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets)

Recognition of expected credit losses

Staging Characteristics ECL determination Revenue recognition
Stage 1 Not experienced significant 

increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition.Performing at initial 
recognition*

 12 Months Expected Credit 
Losses

Interest revenue based on gross 
exposure

Stage 2 Underperforming Assets with 
significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition*

 Lifetime expected credit losses Interest revenue based on 
net carrying amount (net of 
impairment)

Stage 3  Have objective evidence of 
impairment at reporting date. 
Non-performing Credit impaired 
assets

 Lifetime expected credit losses Interest revenue based on 
net carrying amount (net of 
impairment)

*Except for purchased or originated credit impaired assets

The Bank has considered the following in determining the staging of facilities:

1.   Qualitative factors 
	The client’s risk rating
	 Internal and external market factors

2.     Quantitative factors 
	The facilities arrears status 
	Number of restructures, if any 
	Reasons for restructure.
	Change in client credit rating over the past 12 months.

3.    The indicators of Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR) are: 
	 If the facility has internally assigned credit rating of grade D or worse.
	 If the facility has been restructured due to cash flow difficulties.

Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime basis depending on whether a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected 
credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default 
(LGD), defined as follows: 

	The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per “Definition of default and 
credit-impaired” above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the 
obligation.

	EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months (12M EAD) 
or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving commitment, the Bank includes the current 
drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn up to the current contractual limit by the time of 
default, should it occur.

39.  Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk  (continued)
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39. 	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 (b) Credit risk  (continued)

Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

	Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by 
type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed 
as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis, 
where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months and 
Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of 
the loan. 

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual exposure or 
collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the 
exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which 
is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original 
effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The Bank use a transition matrix approach in estimating the probabilities of default. According to this approach, the monthly 
migration matrix is multiplied out over a period of twelve months to get the 12M PD. Lifetime PD is developed by applying 
a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point 
of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and is 
assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and credit grade band. This is supported by historical analysis.
The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by product type.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
To incorporate forward looking information into the ECL calculations, macroeconomic overlays were applied to the probability 
of default. Overlays were estimated and applied for three different scenarios, base case scenario, downside scenario and 
optimistic scenario.

These macroeconomic overlays and the probability of each economic scenario occurring were set using management 
judgement.

The main factors considered while assessing the possible impact of the economic scenario are:
	expected trend of the gross domestic product (GDP), 
	expected trend of the consumer price index; and 
	growth of credit to private sector.  
Analysis is then made to determine how such changes are likely going to affect the probabilities of default as well as loss 
given default.

Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial instruments subject to impairment
The following tables contain analyses of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance is 
recognised. The carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk on 
these assets.

Loans and advances to customers

Kenya Uganda Tanzania Rwanda Total
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

At 31 December 2023
Stage 1 7,184 32,220 73,112 3,390 115,906 
Stage 2 - - - - -   
Stage 3  - 1,026  - -  1,026 
Gross amount* 7,184 33,246 73,112 3,390 116,932
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39.  Financial risk management (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements
(b)	 Credit risk (continued)

Kenya Uganda Tanzania Rwanda Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

At 31 December 2022

Stage 1 12,269 24,293 69,125 5,558 111,245 

Stage 2  9,059 9,672 - - 18,731 

Stage 3 5,203 - - - 5,203 

Gross amount* 26,531 33,965 69,125 5,558 135,179 

*Total loans have been disclosed exclusive of deferred loan processing fee income which was USD (‘000s) 508 as at 31 
December 2023 (2022: USD ‘000s 463).

Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial instruments whose impairment was determined to be immaterial

In relation to other financial assets such as balances with other banks and other receivables, the Bank considers the 
following factors while assessing significant increase in credit risk: payment delays and past due information; and indicators 
of counterparty financial distress such as cash flow or liquidity issues. The key inputs in determining ECL are PD, LGD and 
EAD. Management performed an assessment of ECL as at 31 December 2023 and noted that the impact is not material to 
the financial statements.

The table below shows the other financial assets for which the impairment was determined to be immaterial.

2023 2022
On balance sheet financial assets USD’000 USD’000
Cash at bank 60,473 22,041
Placements with commercial banks 241,980 235,373
Other assets receivable excluding non-financial assets 876 298
Total 303,329 257,712

Credit exposures relating to off-balance sheet items statement of financial position 2023 2022
USD’000 USD’000

Loan commitments 4,945 361

The ECL on the Loan commitments is included within the ECL on Loans and advances to customers.

The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below: 

Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant increases (or decreases) 
of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent “step up” (or “step down”) between 12-month 
and Lifetime ECL;
	Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases for financial 

instruments de-recognised in the period; 
	 Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from regular refreshing 

of inputs to models;
	 Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; 
	Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value basis;
	Foreign exchange retranslations for assets denominated in foreign currencies and other movements; and 
	Financial assets derecognised during the period.
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The following tables explain the changes in the gross amount and the loss allowance between the beginning and the end of 
the annual period due to these factors:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
12-Month 

ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Year ended 31 December 2023 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Loans and advances to customers
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 111,245 18,731 5,203 135,179 
Transfers
Transfer from Stage 1 (135) - 135 -
Transfer from Stage 2 8,643 (9,672) 1,029 -
Financial assets derecognised during the period other than 
write offs (40,057) - (115) (40,172)

Financial assets written off - (9,059) (5,338) (14,397)
New financial assets originated 26,443 - - 26,443
Changes in interest accruals 9,767  - 112 9,879
Gross carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2023* 115,906 - 1,026 116,932

12-Month 
ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Provision for impairment
As at 1 January 2023 1,803 4,318 2,432 8,553
New Financial Assets Originated 53 - - 53
Transfers 114 (267) 153 -
Financial Assets written off - (4,118) (2,449) (6,567)
Movements for the period (236) 67 48 (121)
As at 31 December 2023 1,734 - 184 1,918
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 114,172 - 842 115,014

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-Month ECL Lifetime 
ECL

Lifetime 
ECL Total

Year ended 31 December 2022 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
Loans and receivables
Gross carrying amount as 

at 1 January 2022
147,649 13,481 5,399 166,529

Transfers
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 - - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to stage 1 - - - -
Financial assets derecognised during the period other 
than write offs (44,429) (2,364) (154) (46,947)
Financial assets written off -  -  (415) (415)

New financial assets originated 5,995  - -  5,995 
Changes in interest accruals 2,030 7,614 373 10,017 
Gross carrying amount as at 31 Dec 2022* 111,245 18,731 5,203 135,179 

39. 	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 (b) Credit risk  (continued)
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Provision for impairment
As at 1 January 2022 1,791 2,781 2,140 6,712
New Financial Assets Originated 108 - - 108
Transfers - - - -
Financial Assets written off - - (74) (74)
Movements for the period (96) 1,537 366 1,807 
As at 31 December 2022 1,803 4,318 2,432 8,553
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 109,442 14,413 2,771 126,626

*Gross carrying amount of loans has been disclosed exclusive of deferred loan processing fee income which was USD 
(‘000s) 508 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: USD ‘000s 463).

Geographical concentration of financial assets

Uganda Tanzania Kenya Rwanda Overseas Total

Year ended December 2023 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

Financial assets

Bank balances 18,644 192 3,550 1,290 36,797 60,473

Placements with banks 34,857 - 29,828 - 177,295 241,980

Loans and advances 32,359 71,752 7,011 3,384 - 114,506

Assets available for sale - - 3,370 - - 3,370

Equity investments - 553 96 - - 649

Other assets excluding 
non-financial assets 519 118 219 20 - 876

86,379 72,615 44,074 4,694 214,092 421,854

Uganda Tanzania Kenya Rwanda Overseas Total

Year ended December 2022 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

Financial assets

Bank balances 16,535 151 3,076 47 2,232 22,041

Placements with banks 48,805 16,571 100,400 - 69,597 235,373

Loans and advances 32,962 67,847 19,813 5,541 - 126,163

Other assets excluding 
non-financial assets 123 60 100 15 - 298

98,425 84,629 123,389 5,603 71,829 383,875

39.  Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
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The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost. Unless 
specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts.

2023 PD ranges
12-month ECL  

(Stage 1)

Lifetime ECL 
Not Credit 

Impaired 
(Stage 2)

Lifetime 
ECL Credit 

Impaired  
(Stage 3)

Total 31 
December

Loans and advances to Customers at amortised cost

Grade 1-6: Strong 0-0.59 83,708 - - 83,708

Grade 7-9: Satisfactory 0.06-11.34 32,198 - - 32,198

Grade 10: Higher risk 11.35-99.9 - - - -

Grade 11-12: Credit impaired 100 - - 1,026 1,026

Gross carrying amount 115,906 - 1,026 116,932

Loss allowance (1,734) - (184) (1,918)

Carrying amount 114,172 - 842 115,014

2022 PD ranges
12-month ECL  

(Stage 1)

Lifetime ECL 
Not Credit 

Impaired 
(Stage 2)

Lifetime 
ECL Credit 

Impaired  
(Stage 3)

Total 31 
December

Loans and advances to Customers at amortised cost

Grade 1-6: Strong 0-0.59          5,885 - - 5,885

Grade 7-9: Satisfactory 0.06-11.34 99,194 1,895 - 101,089

Grade 10: Higher risk 11.35-99.9         6,166 6,746 - 12,912

Grade 11-12: Credit impaired 100 -          10,090            5,203  15,293

Gross carrying amount  111,245  18,731  5,203  135,179

Loss allowance (1,803) (4,318) (2,432) (8,553)

Carrying amount 109,442 14,413 2,771 126,626

*Gross carrying amount of loans has been disclosed exclusive of deferred loan processing fee income which was USD 
(‘000s) 508 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: USD ‘000s 463).

Write off policy

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage 
in a repayment plan with the Bank. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the Bank continues to engage in 
enforcement activity to recover the amounts due. Where securities are readily available for sale without resistance of the 
borrower, the same are booked as assets available for sale based on the standards. During the year a loan amounting to USD 
13.03 million was written off (2022: USD 0.41 million) out of which assets available for sale amounting to USD 3.4 million 
was booked. All recoveries are made, apart from those on assets available for sale, are recognised in profit or loss.

39. 	 Financial risk management (continued)
	 (b) Credit risk  (continued)
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Collateral and other credit enhancements

The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of legal mortgages, sovereign guarantees, 
insurance guarantees and floating charge over assets.  Estimates of fair value are based on the value of the collateral 
assessed at the time of borrowing.  

An estimate of fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against financial assets in stage 3 is shown 
below (amounts in USD ‘000’):

Gross exposure Impairment 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

Fair value of collateral 
held

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

At December 2023 1,030 (184) 846 7,351

At December 2022 5,203 (2,432) 2,771 4,012

Settlement risk: The Bank’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades.  Settlement 
risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of the counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets 
as contractually agreed.  Settlement limits form part of the credit approval/limit monitoring process described earlier.

(c)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations on its financial liabilities.  It includes both 
the risk of being unable to fund assets at appropriate maturities and rates and the risk of being unable to liquidate an asset 
at a reasonable price and in an appropriate time frame.

The Bank has access to a diverse funding base. Funds are raised mainly from borrowings and share capital. This enhances 
funding flexibility, limits dependence on one source of funds and generally lowers the cost of funds. The Bank strives to 
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of liabilities with a range of maturities. The 
Bank continually assesses liquidity risk by identifying and monitoring changes in funding required in meeting business goals 
and targets set in terms of the overall Bank strategy. In addition, the Bank has an Asset and Liability Committee that meet 
on a regular basis to monitor liquidity risk, review and approve liquidity policies and procedures.

The Bank maintains a minimum of 1.33 times coverage of designated liabilities for the next twelve months in liquid assets as 
per the liquidity policy. Designated liabilities consist of liabilities and budgeted commitments that are due in twelve months.
The liquidity policy ratio as at the end of the year is as follows:

2023 2022

 USD ‘000  USD ‘000 

Cash and cash equivalents as per liquidity policy 281,374 242,448

Designated liabilities as per liquidity policy (35,495) (29,912)

Surplus per liquidity policy 245,879 212,536

Liquidity ratio 7.93 8.11

39.  Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
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Off balance sheet items

The Bank’s off-balance sheet items comprise loans commitments, letters of credit and capital commitments. The dates of 
the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that it commits to extend credit to customers, 
letters of credit and capital commitments are summarised in the table below;

< 6 Months
> 6 Months 

< 1 Year

> 1 Year 

< 5 Years
> 5 Years Total

USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD’000 USD ‘000

Loan commitments - 2023 4,945 - - - 4,945
Loan commitments - 2022 361 - - - 361

(d) 	 Interest rate risk

In broad terms the interest rate risk is the sensitivity of the Bank’s financial performance to changes in the interest rates. The 
Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations to the extent that interest earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities mature or reprice at different times or in differing amounts. Risk management initiatives are aimed at 
optimizing net interest income, given market interest rates levels consistent with the Bank’s business strategies.  In order 
to minimize interest risk, the Bank has a policy of natural hedge where the approved lending commitments are matched to 
specific lines of credit or source of funds, including adopting the funding interest rate characteristics (fixed or variable) to 
its on-lending activities.

As at 31 December 2023 if interest rates on interest bearing assets and liabilities had been lower by 200 bps, with all other 
variables held constant, the impact on statement of profit or loss would be a loss of USD 3.2 million (2022: loss of USD 3.0 
million), which is 1.00% of the total shareholders’ equity (2022: 0.98%). The bank is tax exempt and there is no impact of 
tax. Therefore, the impact of movement in interest rates on the profit or loss equals to the impact on equity. This is shown 
in the table below.

  2023   2022
  USD’000   USD’000
       
Total assets repricing within 6 months 365,125 327,293
Total liabilities repricing within 6 months (43,667) (30,753)
Interest gap 321,458 296,540
Impact of interest fall by 200 bps (3,215) (2,965)
Impact on total shareholders’ equity (1.00%) (0.98%)

39. 	  Financial risk management (continued)
(c)	  Liquidity risk (continued)
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39.   Financial risk management (continued)
(d) Interest rate risk (continued)
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39.	 Financial risk management (continued)
(d)	 Interest rate risk (continued)
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39.	 Financial risk management(continued)
(e)	  Currency risk (continued)
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39. Financial risk management (continued)
(e) Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Bank held more liabilities in other currencies than assets (‘short’ position) at the end of the year. With the short position, 
a 10% appreciation of USD against other currencies with position held at 31 December 2023 would have increased profit by 
USD 3.46 million (2022: reduction of USD 7.33 million) and positively impact shareholders equity by 1.07% (2022: negative 
impact of 2.42%). The bank is tax exempt and there is no impact of tax. Therefore, the impact of movement in currency 
exchange rates on the profit or loss equals to the impact on equity. This is assuming that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates remain constant. Reverse movements and impact would happen if depreciation of USD happened against 
other currencies.

   2023  2022

USD’000 USD’000

FX denominated assets 48,958 61,182

FX denominated liabilities (55,221) (47,571)

Net open position    (6,263)    13,611 

Impact of a 10% appreciation of USD exchange rate        3,463     (7,334)

Impact on total shareholders’ equity 1.07% (2.42%)

(f)	 Fair value measurement

a)	 Fair value of financial instruments

IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are 
observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable 
inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

	Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. 
Types of financial assets include: actively traded government and other agency securities, listed derivative instruments 
and listed equities. Types of financial liabilities include listed derivative instruments.

	Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with direct or indirect market observable inputs. Types of 
financial assets include: corporate and other government bonds and loans, and over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives. 
Types of financial liabilities include over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives.

	Level 3 – Fair value is determined using Valuation models using significant non- market observable inputs. Types of 
financial assets include: highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds in illiquid 
markets. Types of financial liabilities include highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and observable 
market prices in its valuations where possible. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, fair values of the financial instruments 
held by the Bank were as follows:
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Level 2

USD’000

Level 3

USD’000

Total

USD’000

Carrying 
Amount

USD’000

31 December 2023

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Derivative financial instruments (6) - (6) (6)

Equity investments at fair value through profit and 
loss - 649 649          649

Total assets (6) 649 643 643

31 December 2022

Level 2

USD’000

Level 3

USD’000

Total

USD’000

Carrying 
amount

USD’000
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss 

Derivative financial instruments - - - -

Equity investments at fair value through profit 
and loss - 718 718 718
Total assets - 718 718 718

Derivative financial instruments: The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models to determine the values of its derivative 
financial instruments such as currency swaps held at the end of the year. Observable market inputs such as exchange rates 
and interest rates are used in the valuation. 

Equity Investments: Fair value of the unquoted ordinary shares has been estimated using the net asset value of the 
investments. Based on the published result of the investment, the directors compute the value of the investment based on 
the number of shares in issue and the value per share. The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring 
the fair values of the Equity Investments as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Valuation technique Significant unobservable input Interrelationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair value 
measurement

Net asset value of the investments: 
This valuation model involves 
obtaining the net assets of the 
investee at a given point in time and 
further computing the percentage 
shareholding through dividing 
the number of shares by the total 
shares of the entity. The value is 
then computed by multiplying the 
percentage shareholding by the net 
assets.

•	 Net assets of investees (2023: 
USD 121,560; 2022: USD 
131,658)

•	 Total shareholding in 
investees (2023: 255,372,171 
shares; 2022: 255,372,171 
shares)

•	 The Bank’s shareholding in 
the investees (2023: 1,631,812 
shares; 2022: 1,631,812 
shares)

The estimated fair value would increase 
(decrease) if:
•	 Net assets growth were higher (lower);
•	 total shareholding in investees 

reduced (increased);
•	 the Bank’s shareholding in the 

investees increased (reduced).

39.	 Financial risk management (continued)
(f) 	 Fair value measurement (continued)
a)    	 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
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31 December 2023 Level 2

USD’000

Level 3

USD’000

Total

USD’000

Carrying 
amount

USD’000
At amortised cost 

Loans and advances excluding deferred 
income 123,387 - 123,387 116,932

Other assets excluding non-financial assets 876 - 876 876
Placements with commercial banks 241,980 - 241,980 241,980
Cash at bank 60,473 - 60,473 60,473
Total assets 426,716   -   426,716   420,261

31 December 2022 Level 2

USD’000

Level 3

USD’000

Total

USD’000

Carrying 
amount

USD’000
At amortised cost 

Loans and advances excluding deferred 
income 143,154 - 143,154 135,179
Other assets excluding non-financial assets 298 - 298 298
Placements with commercial banks 235,373 - 235,373 235,373
Cash at bank 22,041 - 22,041 22,041
Total assets 400,866 - 400,866 392,891

The fair values of the Bank’s short-term financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate 
their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position and are categorised under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
The estimated fair value of long-term loans and advances represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows 
expected to be received. Expected cash flows for loans are discounted at the average lending rate for the year to determine 
fair value.

Liabilities as per balance sheet – at amortised cost

31 December 2023 Level 2

USD’000

Level 3

USD’000

Total

USD’000

Carrying 
amount

USD’000
At amortised cost 

Other liabilities 4,427 - 4,427 4,427
Borrowings 144,534 - 144,534 112,837
Lease liabilities 306 - 306 306
Special funds 3,990 - 3,990 3,990
Grants 3,035 - 3,035 3,035
Capital fund 7,479 - 7,479 7,479
Total Liabilities 163,771   -   163,771   132,074

39. Financial risk management (continued)
(f)  Fair value measurement (continued)

a)     Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
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31 December 2022
Level 2

USD’000

Level 3

USD’000

Total

USD’000

Carrying amount

USD’000
At amortised cost 
Other liabilities 3,678 - 3,678 3,678
Borrowings 112,431 - 112,431 94,962
Lease liabilities 316 - 316 316
Special funds 3,990 - 3,990 3,990
Grants 1,881 - 1,881 1,881
Capital fund 7,479 - 7,479 7,479
Total Liabilities 129,775   -   129,775   112,306

Reconciliation of level 3 financial assets

The bank holds shares in the following entities highlighted below:

–	 931,812 shares (2022: 931,812 shares) in Azania Corporation at a share price of TZS 1,000 each (2022: TZS 1,000).
–	 50,000 shares (2022: 50,000) in Central Depository and Settlement Corporation at a share price of KES 100 each (2022: 

KES 100)
–	 650,000 preference shares (2022: 650,000 shares) in NCBA Bank Tanzania Limited at a share price of TZS 1,000 (2022: 

TZS 1,000)

The share price above was determined based on net assets and total number of shares for each of the entities. The value of 
net assets has been obtained from the audited financial statements as at 31 December 2022.

The bank has also invested in Catalyst EA Investment Limited and BPI but a full provision for outstanding amount has been 
recognised in the profit or loss.  The outstanding amounts before provisions were:

–	 Catalyst EA Investment Limited USD 374,145 (2022: USD 374,145)
–	 BPI USD 19,405 (2022: USD 19,405)

The following table shows the reconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances for fair value measurements 
in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

2023
Equity investments Azania CDSC NCBA BPI Catalyst Total

USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000
At start of year 415 122 181 - - 718
Revaluation gain/(loss) (30) (26) (13) - - (69)
At end of year 385 96 168 - - 649

2022
Equity investments Azania CDSC NCBA BPI Catalyst Total

USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000
At start of year  413  162  183 -  90 848
Provisions - - - - (90) (90)
Revaluation gain/(loss) (6) (13) (2) - - (21)
Fair value gain/ (loss) 8  (27) - - - (19)
At end of year 415 122 181 - - 718

39.	 Financial risk management (continued)
(f) 	 Fair value measurement(continued)
a)    	 Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
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b)    Fair value of non-financial instruments

Note that the Bank also holds non-financial assets at fair value. See note 21 for disclosures of the land and buildings that 
are measured at fair value.

(g)	 Capital management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than ‘equity’ on the face of the statement of 
financial position, are:

	To comply with the capital requirements set under the Bank’s Charter;
	To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders 

and benefits for other stakeholders; and
	To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Bank’s capital requirements are strictly observed under Article 11 of the Bank’s Charter which requires that the Bank’s 
outstanding loans, equity investments and guarantees do not at any one time exceed three times the Bank’s unimpaired 
subscribed capital plus reserves and surplus relating to its ordinary capital resources but excluding the special reserve. 
The Bank was well within this limit as of 31 December 2023. The ratio is computed as a ratio of loans, equities and lease 
receivables divided by shareholders equity less special reserves.

2023

USD ‘000

2022

USD ‘000
Gross Loans and advances to customers 116,932 135,179
Shareholders’ equity 322,302 303,229 
Special reserve (12,906) (12,785)

309,396 290,444
Ratio 0.38 0.46

The Capital adequacy ratio is calculated based on the Basel Accord as Capital divided by Risk Weighted Asset. The ratio of 
124% (2022: 77%) is above the limit widely used by regulators of 15%.

The Weighted Risk is determined by applying the following weights on various asset categories: Loans with less than 90 
days in arrears 70%-250%, loans with more than 90 days in arrears 100%-150%, line of credit to rated banks 20%-100%, 
line of credit to non-rated banks 100%, placements with rated banks 50%, placements with non-rated banks 100% , equity 
investments 300%-400% and other receivables 100%.

39. Financial risk management (continued)
(f)  Fair value measurement (continued)
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Capital structure

2023 2022
USD’000’ USD’000’

Tier 1 Capital 311,846 293,956
Tier 2 Capital 10,456 9,273
Tier 3 Capital - -

322,302 303,229
Total risk-weighted assets (including credit risk and Operational risk) 260,734 395,909
Capital adequacy ratio 124% 77%

The following table shows the breakdown of the Total risk-weighted assets (including credit risk and Operational risk)

2023 2022
USD’000’ USD’000’

Direct Lending (Up-to-date Loans/below 90 days) 73,460  106,674 
Lines of Credit 25,744  34,769 
Short term Investments 87,559  181,800 
Equity Investments 3,669  3,889 
Past Due Loans (above 90 days) 1,545  5,621 
Other receivables 36,863  31,242 
Credit Risk Exposures 228,840 363,995
Net open position of FX denominated assets and liabilities (6) 14
Operational Risk 31,900 31,900
Total risk-weighted assets (including credit risk and Operational risk) 260,734 395,909

The above balances are results of stress tests conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more 
severe market conditions. The scenarios are developed taking into account both Bank specific events (e.g a rating 
downgrade) and market-related events.

Net debt reconciliation

Below is an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented.

2023 2022

USD ‘000 USD ‘000

 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 35) 192,287 162,888

 Borrowings (Notes 26) (112,837) (94,962)

 Lease liabilities (Note 27) (306) (316)

 Net debt 79,144 67,610

39.	 Financial risk management (continued)
(g) 	 Capital management(continued)
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Borrowings    Lease 
liabilities  

Liquid 
assets     Total  

  USD ‘000   USD ‘000   USD ‘000    USD ‘000  

 At 1 January 2023 (94,962) (316) 162,888 67,610
 Additions (37,371) (11) - (37,382)
 Repayments 22,884 116 - 23,000
 Interest expense - (33) - (33)
 Net foreign exchange difference 2,804 26 (1,446) 1,384
 Remeasurement - (87) 87
 Other adjustments/ movements (6,192) - 30,845 24,653
 At 31 December 2023 (112,837) (305) 192,287 79,145

 At 1 January 2022 (84,631) (388) 118,560 33,541
 Acquisitions (20,357) - - (20,357)
 Repayments 11,445 110 - 11,555
 Net foreign exchange difference 2,605 - (1,497) 1,108
 Other adjustments/ movements (4,024) (38) 45,825 41,763
 At 31 December 2022 (94,962) (316) 162,888 67,610

Liquid assets comprise Cash and bank balances as well as balances due from banks originally maturing within 90 days. 
(Note 35)

40.	 Events after the balance sheet date 

There were no events after the balance sheet date for the year ended 31 December 2023.

41.	 Employee retirement benefit plans and gratuity

Note
2023

USD ‘000

2022

USD ‘000
Contribution to the retirement benefit plan (i) 232 246
Contribution to the statutory pension scheme (NSSF) (ii) 6 6
Gratuity (iii) 72 72

310 324

(i) 	 The Bank operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme to which employees contribute 10% of their 
basic salary and the Bank contributes 10%, 12.5% or 15% of the employees’ basic salary depending on his/her length 
of service.  A Board of Trustees manages the scheme, the scheme administrator is Alexander Forbes, custodian 
Standard Chartered Bank Uganda and Fund manager Sanlam Investments Limited.

	 The Bank also makes contributions to a statutory pension scheme, the National Social Security Fund for its casual 
staff. The contributions and obligations under the scheme are limited to specific contributions legislated from time to 
time and the Bank’s contribution is currently 10% of the employees’ gross salary and Kenya Shillings 200 for Kenyan 
employees resident in Kenya.

(ii)	 Gratuity is paid to the Director General at 20% of annual gross salary at the end of each year.

39. Financial risk management (continued)
(g)  Capital management (continued)

Net debt reconciliation (continued)
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Other staff benefits

The Bank promoted the welfare of its staff through various measures such as the car purchase loan scheme, education 
assistance loans, housing loans and a funded medical scheme. Costs associated with providing these benefits are expensed 
as and when incurred and reported under employee benefits expense (Note 8).

42.	 Capital commitments

There were no approved capital commitments outstanding at the end of year (2022: NIL). 

43.	 Off balance sheet items and contingencies

The Bank conducts business involving guarantees, performance bonds and indemnities.  The following are the commitments 
and contingencies outstanding as at year-end.

2023

USD ‘000

2022

USD ‘000
Un-disbursed commitments 4,945 361

Nature of contingent liabilities

Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions. Such commitments are 
normally made for a fixed period.

The Bank is a litigant in several cases which arise from normal day to day Banking activities. The Directors believe the Bank 
has strong grounds for success and are confident that they should get rulings in their favor in matters before court. In cases 
where the Bank may not be successful, Directors and management are confident that such cases would not significantly 
impact the Bank’s operations either individually or in aggregate. 

Management has also carried out an assessment of all the cases outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and did not find any 
that warranted a provision. This position is supported by independent professional legal advice.

44.	 Related party transactions

The Bank is owned by four East African Community member states of Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda and Rwanda who collectively 
own 92% of the total number of shares (2022: 90%) which is 100% of the ordinary class A shares. The remaining 8% (2022: 
10%) is widely held by class B shareholders as disclosed in note 30.

A number of Banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These include loans, 
deposits with Banks, borrowings and capital contributions by the member states. The volumes of related-party transactions 
and outstanding balances at year-end, for the year are as follows:

Loans and advances to related parties

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Green Hills Academy Ltd - 26
Loan to Government of United Republic of Tanzania 63,302 55,127

Interest income earned on the above 5,668 4,008

41.	 Employee retirement benefit plans and gratuity (continued)
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Placements held with banks that are shareholders of the Bank and related entities:

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

NCBA Bank Limited 19,253 34,418
Standard Chartered Bank PLC 79,518 62,582
Interest income earned on the above 5,005 1,061

Borrowings payable by the Bank to shareholders
African Development Bank - 11,575
NCBA Bank Limited 11,639 8,181
Interest expense on borrowings as paid to shareholders 1,517 812

Government of United Republic of Tanzania is a Class A shareholder owning 24.46% of the shares in the Bank. Green Hills 
Academy Ltd is owned by a member of the Board of Directors of the Bank. 

As at 31 December 2023, provision on loans and advances to related parties amounted to USD 896,901 (2022: USD 886,940) 
for Government of United Republic of Tanzania. The Green Hills Academy loan was fully repaid during the year. It carried 
provision of USD 3 in 2022. All related party loans were classified under stage one. None of the transactions incorporate 
special terms and conditions and no guarantees were given or received on these loans.

Key management compensation

Key management includes Directors (executives and non-executives). The compensation paid or payable to key management 
for employee services is shown below:

2023 2022
USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Salaries and other employee benefits 456 379
Other short-term employee benefits - Gratuity 72 72
Other expenses 34 48

562 499
Directors’ emoluments
-   Fees and allowances 128 67
-   Salaries and other employee benefits (included within key management compensation 
above) 528 451
-   Other expenses 656 518

45	 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be realised or 
settled. Trading assets and liabilities have been classified to mature and/or be repaid within 12 months, regardless of the 
actual maturities of the products:

44.	 Related party transactions (continued)
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Within After Total

12 months 12 months 

31 December 2023 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Assets

Cash at bank 60,473 - 60,473

Placements with commercial banks 241,980 - 241,980

Loans and advances to customers        39,659        74,847 114,506

Assets available for sale 3,370 - 3,370

Equity investments 649 649

Other assets 1,816 - 1,816

Property and equipment - 8,646 8,646

Right of use assets - 311 311

Investment property - 22,631 22,631

Total assets 347,298   107,084 454,382

Liabilities

Other liabilities 4,385 42 4,427

Derivative financial instruments 6 - 6

Borrowings 44,031 68,806 112,837

Lease liabilities 102 204 306

Special funds - 3,990 3,990

Grants - 3,035 3,035

Capital fund - 7,479 7,479

Total liabilities 48,524   83,556 132,080

Net: 298,774   (23,528) 322,302

45.	 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)
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Within After Total

12 months 12 months 

31 December 2022 USD ‘000 USD ‘000 USD ‘000

Assets

Cash at bank 22,041 - 22,041 

Placements with commercial banks 235,373 - 235,373 

Loans and advances to customers 48,324 77,839 126,163 

Equity investments - 718 718 

Other assets 427 - 427 

Property and equipment - 11,842 11,842 

Right of use assets - 198 198 

Investment property - 18,773 18,773 

Total assets 306,165   109,370 415,535

Liabilities

Other liabilities 3,645 33 3,678 

Borrowings 43,425        51,537 94,962 

Lease liabilities 121 195 316 

Special funds - 3,990 3,990 

Grants - 1,881 1,881 

Capital fund - 7,479 7,479 

Total liabilities 47,191   65,115 112,306

Net: 258,974   44,255 303,229

45.	 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities (continued)
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